3D Hydrogel Systems

Supporting the Growth of Neural Stem Cells BACHELOR PAPER II

Submitted at the

IMC University of Applied Sciences Krems



Bachelor's Program

"Medical and Pharmaceutical Biotechnology"

Ву

ZIQIN ZHAO

Internal Supervisor: Mag. Dr. Elisabeth Hofmann Submitted on: April 21^{st,} 2015

Statutory Declaration

"I declare in lieu of an oath that I have written this bachelor thesis myself and that I have not used any sources or resources other than stated for its preparation. I further declare that I have clearly indicated all direct and indirect quotations. This bachelor thesis has not been submitted elsewhere for examination purposes."

Datum: April 21st, 2015

Ziqin ZHAO

Sperrvermerk / Clause of confidentiality

Auf Wunsch der Firma/Institution / upon request of.

Institute for Engineering and Medicine (IEM), Virginia Commonwealth University

ist die vorliegende Bachelorarbeit für die angegebene Dauer von maximal 5 *Jahren* für die öffentliche Nutzung zu sperren/will the present bachelor thesis be retained from public access for the period of max.5 years

Dauer der Sperre / period: 5 Jahre /years

Veröffentlichung, Vervielfältigung und Einsichtnahme sind ohne ausdrückliche Genehmigung der o.a. Firma und des Verfassers/der Verfasserin bis zum genannten Datum nicht gestattet/Unauthorized reading, publication and duplication will not be allowed without explicit consent given by the above-mentioned company and the author before:

zu veröffentlichen am/publication allowed: 20.04.2020

Xuefm When Unterschrift/Signature:

Name/Funktion. Name/position: Xuejun Wen, M.D., Ph.D, William H. Goodwin Professor

Firma /Firmenstempel/Company/Seal:

რილი დილი დი

VerfasserIn Bachelorarbeit/Author bachelor thesis: Ziqin ZHAO

| Unterschrift/Signature: | |
|-----------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | |
| Λ | |
| Studiengangsleiter /Programme director: | Prof.(FH) Mag. Dr. Harald Hundsberger |
| | IMC Fachhochschule Krems GmbH A-3500 Krems, Piaristengasse 1 Tel.: 02732 / 802 Fax: 02732 / 602-4 e-mail: office@imc-krems.ac.at |
| Unterschrift/Signature: | http://www.imc-krems.ac.at |
| Stempel FH/ Seal: | |
| | |

Bestätigt am: /Notified as of: 21.04.2015

Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to say thanks to my external supervisor Prof. Xuejun Wen for his support for my practice training. His idea and guidance opened a new world for me. He gave me a chance to see how to integrate the different disciplines and how to connect the research with clinical use.

Besides Dr. Wen, I want to express my appreciation to my internal supervisor Mag. Elisabeth Hofmann, her suggestions and help as well as the support make my PTS smoothly.

Here I also want to acknowledge the support of Prof. Barbara Entler for her help and professional support for my PTS.

Abstract

Stem cell-based therapy holds a great promise for the treatment of central nervous system (CNS) injuries/diseases. Successful regeneration of damaged neural tissue is based on big amount of transplanted cells. The low viability of transplanted cells and the limited differentiation toward specific cell types make the required number of cells per treatment even much higher. The existing cell culture system cannot provide fast proliferation of neural stem cells (NSCs) for clinical treatment. Therefore, developing three-dimensional (3D) cell culture systems by mimicking the niche of NSCs to support their growth in vitro is required by clinical treatment. Among the components of niche, extracellular matrix, with its specific biochemical, biomechanical and physical properties, play an essential role in cell activities by direct or indirect interactions with the cells. Matrices with 3D architectures are widely investigated, which are providing the needed support for emerging applications in tissue engineering and stem cell research. Many substances have been used to fabricate matrices, hydrogel is getting more popular due to its similar mechanical properties as the natural matrix and providing suitable environment for neural stem cells. Thus, the creation of a 3D hydrogel culture system, which can provide controlled gelation time, uniform suspension of cells, biophysical and biochemical properties that is favorable for NSCs survival and growth as well as enhancing cell proliferation, is desirable for clinical treatment. In this paper, hydrogel of pure gellan gum and hybrid hydrogels of the gellan gum and konjac gum were studied. The stiffness of gels was tested by rheometers and suitable gels were used for cell culture. Cell culture of NSCs showed that the hydrogels of gellan gum or gellan/konjac hybrid gels can support NSCs growth and proliferation, the most proliferation and viability appeared in the1.4% gellan gum (stiffness 250Pa) and many neurospheres formed in the 1.1% gellan gum based hybrid gels (constant 1.1% gellan gum and various konjac concentration). The cultures of mesenchymal stem cell (MSCs) and meningeal fibroblast isolated from brain tissue revealed that different cell type prefer different gels with different composition and concentration.

Table of Contents

| Statut | ory Declaration | I |
|---------|--------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Sperry | vermerk / Clause of confidentiality | II |
| Ackno | owledgements | |
| Abstra | act | IV |
| Table | of Contents | V |
| List of | Figures and Illustrations | VII |
| List of | Abbreviations | IX |
| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
| 1.1 | Neural Stem Cells (NSCs) | 1 |
| 1.1.1 | Neural Stem Cells Characteristic | 1 |
| 1.1.2 | Neural Stem Cells for CNS Regeneration | 2 |
| 1.2 | NSCs Cell Culture System | 4 |
| 1.2.1 | Current NSCs Cell Culture System | 4 |
| 1.2.2 | 3D Cell Culture Mimic the Niche of NSC | 7 |
| 1.3 | 3D NSCs Hydrogel Cell Culture Systems | 9 |
| 1.3.1 | Hydrogel Mimics the ECM of CNS | 9 |
| 1.3.2 | Hydrogel Formation | 10 |
| 1.3.3 | Hydrogel Control NSCs Behaviours | 11 |
| 1.3.4 | Hydrogel Design Criteria | 12 |
| 1.4 | Hydrogels for NSCs Cell Culture Systems | 14 |
| 1.4.1 | Synthetic Hydrogels | 15 |
| 1.4.2 | Natural Derived Hydrogel | 15 |
| 2 | Aim of the Study | 23 |
| 3 | Materials and Methods | 24 |
| 3.1 | Gel Solution | 24 |
| 3.1.1 | Gellan Gum (GG) Solution | 24 |
| 3.1.2 | Hybrid Gel Solution of Gellan Gum and Glucomannan (GG/KGM) . | 24 |
| 3.2 | Rheology of Gels | 24 |
| 3.3 | Cell Culture | 25 |
| 3.3.1 | Neural Stem Cells Culture | 25 |
| 3.3.2 | Mesenchymal Stem Cells | 25 |
| 3.3.3 | Meningeal Fibroblasts | 26 |
| 4 | Results | 27 |
| 4.1 | Rheology | 27 |
| 4.2 | Cell Culture | 29 |
| 4.2.1 | Neural Stem Cells Culture | 29 |

| 4.2.2 | Mesenchymal Stem Cells | .35 |
|---------|------------------------|-----|
| 4.2.3 | Meningeal Fibroblasts | .43 |
| 5 | Discussions | .53 |
| 6 | Conclusion | .58 |
| List of | reference | .59 |

List of Figures and Illustrations

| Figure 1: Stem cells differentiate to produce different types of nerve cells [14]2 |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Figure 2 : Neurosphere assay5 |
| Figure 3: Healthy (d–f) and unhealthy (a–c) neurospheres5 |
| Figure 4: Adherent cultures derived from adult SVZ cells7 |
| Figure 5: Cell cultured on 2D and 3D7 |
| Figure 6: Matrix substrate influence the differentiation of stem cells9 |
| Figure 7: Effects of matrix mechanics on cell behavior13 |
| Figure 8: The influence of stiffness on NSCs proliferation13 |
| Figure 9: Structure of isoforms of gellan gum [129]17 |
| Figure 10: Effect of cations on gellan gum gelation [130]18 |
| Figure 11: Gel strength as function of GG and Mg ²⁺ concentration [130]18 |
| Figure 12: GG Schematic representation |
| Figure 13: The chemical structure of konjac glucomannan [152]20 |
| Figure 14: Effect of polymer concentration and medium/solvent on GG modulus .27 |
| Figure 15: Storage modulus of GG/KGM hybrid gel with and without media28 |
| Figure 16: Storage modulus of 1.1% series GG/KGM hybrid gels28 |
| Figure 17: Storage modulus of 1.4% series GG/KGM hybrid gels28 |
| Figure 18: Microscope pictures of NSCs culture |
| Figure 19: NSCs cultured in 3D GG gel and on 2D matrigel gel surface |
| Figure 20: NSCs cultured in 3D 1.1% GG based GG/KGM hybrid hydrogels32 |
| Figure 21: NSCs cultured in 3D 1.4% GG based GG/KGM hybrid hydrogel33 |
| Figure 22: NSCs cultured in different 3D gels and 2D |
| Figure 23: Live/dead stain of NSCs in GG gels |
| Figure 24: Microscope pictures of MSC in 3D gels (GG/KGM and GG) and 2D37 |
| Figure 25: MSCs cultured in 3D GG gel and on 2D |
| Figure 26: MSCs cultured in 1.1% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels |
| Figure 27: MSC cultured in 1.4% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels40 |
| Figure 28: MSC cultured in 3D hybrid GG/KGM gels and 1% KGM41 |
| Figure 29: MSCs cultured in GG, GG/KGM, 1% konjac and 2D43 |
| Figure 30: Microscope pictures of meningeal fibroblasts culture45 |
| Figure 31: Meningeal fibroblasts cultured in 3D GG gel and on 2D46 |
| Figure 32: Meningeal fibroblasts cultured in 1.1% GG based GG/KGM gels47 |
| Figure 33: Meningeal fibroblasts cultured in 1.4% GG based GG/KGM gels48 Zhao Zi Qin |

| Figure 34: Meningeal fibroblasts in 3D GG/KGM gels and 1% KGM | .49 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Figure 35: Meningeal fibroblasts in GG, GG/KGM, 1% konjac and 2D | .50 |
| Figure 36: Meningeal fibroblasts on the edge of 1.4% GG gel | .51 |

List of Abbreviations

| 2D | Two dimensional |
|-------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|
| 3D | Three dimensional |
| bFGF | Basic fibroblast growth factor |
| CAM | Cell adhesion molecules |
| CNS | Central nervous system |
| CSPG | Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans |
| | Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium |
| DSC | Differential scanning calorimetry |
| FC | Endothelial cells |
| ECM | Extracellular matrix |
| EDC | 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide hydrochloride |
| | Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid |
| EGE | Endermal growth factor |
| ES | Embryonic stem cells |
| EBQ | Entol your stem cens |
| 66 | Collan gum |
| GG LLA | |
| | Hydiuronic aciu |
| | Induced pluvingtent stem cells |
| IPSC KOM | Induced pluripotent stem cells |
| | |
| LVR | Linear viscoelastic region |
| MAC | Methacrylamide chitosan |
| MF | Meningeal fibroblast |
| MSC | Mesenchymal stromal cells |
| MSCGS | Mesenchymal stem cell growth supplement serum free |
| NCFC | Neural Colony-Forming Cell |
| NEP | Neuroepithelial progenitors |
| NHS | N-hydroxysulfoxuccinimide |
| NPC | Meural progenitor cell |
| NSA | Neurosphere assay |
| NSC | Neural stem cells |
| NSPC | Neural stem/progenitor cells |
| OAS | Oscillation amplitude sweep |
| OFS | Oscillation frequency sweep |
| OPC | Oligodendrocyte precursor cells |
| Ра | Pascal |
| PBS | Phosphate-buffered saline |
| PEG | Poly(ethylene glycol) |
| PF127 | Pluronic F127 (generic name, poloxamer 407) |
| PLA | Polylactide |
| PLGA | Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) |
| RGD | Arg-Gly-Asp sequence |
| SVZ | Subventricular zone |
| TNC | Tenascin C |
| UV | Ultraviolet |
| VCU | Virginia Commonwealth University |

1 Introduction

The central nervous system (CNS) comprises of the brain and spinal cord. It plays the central role in the control of most body functions. The damage of CNS can be caused by either injury of brain or spinal cord or the neurological disorders, as well as cancer. The common pathophysiological change resulting from the damage is the death of neuron (nerve cell), broken axons with demyelination, loss of the glia support, and the change of environment of the injured site in CNS. Currently the clinical treatments try to manage the primary injury and reduce the secondary injury. But none is available to regenerate the damaged CNS tissue and restore the impacted function since the CNS has limited capacity to regenerate and replace the damaged cells lost during the injury or disease [1, 2]. Therefore, a clinical treatment for repairing the damaged CNS and restoring the function is being investigated. The transplantation of neural stem cells (NSCs) has appealing potential for regenerating the damaged CNS. However, NSCs transplantation therapy faces the problem of the fate of transplanted cells which is the big obstacle for its further clinical use [3]. Large numbers of functional cells that differentiated from stem cells is needed to achieve the effect of treatment and the low viability of transplanted cells in vivo make this required number even higher. For example, 5 million dopaminergic neurons per transplantation is required to treat Parkinson's Disease. The existing cell culture system can't provide fast proliferation of NSCs for clinical treatment. Therefore, to enhance the cell viability and proliferation in vitro becomes the key point for stem cell therapy since both cell viability and proliferation correlate to functional outcome directly.

1.1 Neural Stem Cells (NSCs)

1.1.1 Neural Stem Cells Characteristic

Neural stem cells (NSCs) are multi-potent populations present in both fetal and adult brain, they are capable of self-renew and have the ability to differentiate into three major neural cells (neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes) (Figure 1) through asymmetrical fate-committed division [4, 5]. Although there exist neural progenitors which refers to a cell with a more restricted potential than a stem cell, but in this paper the NSCs are used to refer to all multi-potent stem cells.

NSCs exist through the whole life and tree main types of NSCs have been identified depending on the time of development [6]. First, NSCs exist as

neuroepithelial progenitors (NEP) in the earliest stage of development to be responsible to form the neural plate, which continue to form the neural tube. Later, NSCs exist as radial glia (RG) cells, which originate from NEP but have more limited differentiation potential even some of them are capable to differentiate to neuronal, glial and oligodendroglial cells. Finally, the NSCs were identified in adult brain in the subventricular zone (SVZ) [7], the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus [8] and external germinal layer of cerebellum [4]. The SVZ is the region in the adult brain with the highest neurogenetic rate, and NSCs isolated from SVZ showed the ability to give rise to neural cells [9] and non-neural cells [10, 11]. NSCs have been isolated also from non-neurogenic areas, such as the spinal cord [12]. In vitro the NSCs showed the stability after multiple passages without loss of their multipotentiality [13]. Thus, NSCs give a promising potential of cell therapy for the damaged CNS.





1.1.2 Neural Stem Cells for CNS Regeneration

NSCs therapy offers highly attractive potential for the regeneration of injured CNS, such as replacement of damaged cells, promotion of axon regrowth, remyelination of damaged axons and rebuilding of neuronal circuitry [15]. This can be done either by transplantation of exogenous NSCs or by stimulation of endogenous NSCs. Stimulation of endogenous NSCs is through the neurogenesis in adult brain due to the proliferation and differentiation of stem cells which resides in the adult CNS [9, 16]. Cell populations generated from endogenous stimulation may not be sufficient to replace damaged or lost tissue in CNS injury, especially for the areas with little evidence of ongoing neurogenesis like spinal cord and striatum. Transplantation of exogenous NSCs can be achieved by transplanting in vitro expanded stem cells and/or their neuronal progeny, either by directly replacing the damaged cells or indirectly by secreting trophic factors to promote endogenous regeneration. NSCs transplantation aims not only at substituting dead cells with newly differentiated neural cells but also at promoting functional integration into neural circuits of newly formed cells. A variety of different cell sources for cell transplantation have been investigated and tested. They can be either isolated from neural tissue, such as fetal or adult CNS-derived NSCs [4], or derived from non-neural stem cells, such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) [17], directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells (ES) [18], and from induced pluripotent stem cells (IPSC) [19].

Many investigations have been done in vitro and in vivo for NSCs transplantation. Experiments showed that NSCs cultured in vitro could give rise to functional neurons that are connected and electrically active upon transplantation into brain of rats [20]. The immunomodulatory properties of NSCs have also been investigated in vitro [21]. The rodent models, such as inflammatory diseases like multiple sclerosis [22], spinal cord lesions [23] and neurodegenerative disorder [24-26] have been used to demonstrate cell therapy. Purified human neural stem cells generated from an aborted human fetal brain for clinical trial in Pelizaeus–Merzbacher disease [27] showed that the 2-year follow-up report indicated safety and improved long-term myelination, and the cells are on-going in phase I/II clinical trials for spinal cord injury [28].

For the goal of cell therapy, the implanted NSCs must be able to survive and proliferate to a required population for secreting trophic factors to support endogenous neurogenesis or replace damaged tissue. They need to be able to differentiate into the appropriate types that functionally integrate into the damaged host brain circuitry [29]. Therapeutic effects of transplanted NSCs have been evaluated in different ways. Integration and reconstruction of the neuronal circuitry, which needs big amount of cells, is an important goal for restoring the damaged CNS function. However, the fate of transplanted cells is strongly influenced by the type of diseases/injuries of the CNS and the biomechanical and/or biochemical signals in the microenvironment [30]. Low viability and survival rate of transplanted stem cells hinder the further clinical use. Thus, the cell viability and proliferation becomes the key point for cell therapy since both correlate to the functional

outcome directly. For the clinical treatment a big amount of desired NSCs with natural phonotype and genotype is needed. Existing cell culture systems can't meet this requirement. Therefore, developing better cell culture systems is necessary.

1.2 NSCs Cell Culture System

1.2.1 Current NSCs Cell Culture System

Currently there are two NSCs culture systems commonly used, the neurosphere assay (NSA) and adhesive culture in 2D. In the NSA the micro-dissected neural tissues were dissociated and plated on low-attachment culture flasks in serum-free media in presence of mitogen (EGF and bFGF). NSCs respond to mitogens and begin to proliferate after 24hours and form cluster by 2-3 days. The clusters detach after 3-5 days culture and float in media. Mostly by day 7 neurospheres with 100–200 µ m in diameter which composed of approximately 10,000 cells can be obtained. This is called primary neurospheres that can be dissociated and replated to generate neurospheres (Figure 2 and Figure 3) [31]. This procedure can be sequentially repeated several times to expand a NSC population. The cells from neurospheres derived from embryonic mouse CNS tissue treated in this manner have been passaged for up to 10 weeks with no loss in their proliferative ability, resulting in a 10⁷ fold increase in total cell number [31]. But NSA has its limit. Both neural stem and progenitor cells were isolated and expanded by NSA. NSA does not provide a reliable or accurate readout of stem cell frequency [32]. Neurospheres and neurosphere-forming cells are morphologically and functionally heterogeneous [33]. Neural Colony-Forming Cell (NCFC) assay was investigated which is able to better discriminate between neural stem and progenitor cells compared to the neurosphere assay [31]. Another method is the adhesive 2D culture, in which NSCs grow on coated substrates to form a monolayer (Figure 4). Laminin is the commonly used coating substrate [34, 35], and the mostly used growth factors to maintain self-renewal of cultured adult NSCs are epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF) [36]. NSCs can be competently expanded as adherent clonal homogeneous NSC lines and cells divide symmetrically, retaining their tripotency differentiation capacity. Compared to the neurosphere assay, adherent culture is more easily monitored and has better access to growth factors [37]. It have been shown that 2D cultures with less

differentiated cells than neurosphere assay, in which cell-cell contacts and nonuniform mitogens may stimulate differentiation programs [6].



Figure 2 : Neurosphere assay (A) Cluster formed after 2 days subpassing of cells isolated from cortex. (B) Healthy neurospheres appearance microspikes (arrow heads) on enlarged spheres from A. (C) By 4 days in vitro neurospheres have grown in size, detached from the substrate and floated in suspension. (D) A floating 7 days neurosphere. Magnification: A B D x200; B x400.



Figure 3: Healthy (d–f) and unhealthy (a–c) neurospheres Dark in the center is a sign that a number of cells are dying. Light in color and translucent means that it is composed live healthy cells. The inset (arrow) represents a higher magnification of the right side of sphere which showed that the center of the sphere is becoming dark but the outer portion of the sphere is still light and translucent.

Even through, it has shown that cells often exhibit unnatural behavior when they are excised from native three dimensional (3D) tissues and confined to a monolayer. Comparing to the complexities of real tissue physiology, the 2D culture environment is lack of spatial organization, which can influence cell phenotype, genotype, morphology, migration, cell attachment and other bioprocesses (Table 1). In native tissue, cells live in a 3D dynamic microenvironment which can regulate cell fate through either cell–cell or cell–matrix interaction. This cellular microenvironment contributes to the spatially and temporally complex signaling domain that directs cell phenotype. Based on Bissell's concept, the phenotype can supersede genotype simply due to interactions with the ECM. Cells are not only defined by its genome, but also evaluated in the context of the ECM and other factors in their environment, which orchestrates an intracellular signaling cascade that influences phenotypic fate by altering gene and ultimately protein expression

[38]. In a 2D environment, cells can alter production of their own ECM proteins and undergo morphological changes [39], and alter metabolism as well as their gene expression. Further, in a 2D culture it is not possible to create molecular gradients which play a vital role in differentiation, cell fate, signal transduction, neural information transmission and other biological processes. All these can result in the influence on the movements of cells which normally follow a chemical signal or molecular gradient in nature tissue [39].

In 2D culture system, only part of cell membrane attaches to the ECM or interact with the neighbor cells, the rest part expose to the culture media. This unnatural intergrin binding affect intracellular signaling and cell cluster in the correct way in turn to affect communication between cells [38, 40]. 2D culture confines cells to a planar environment and restricts the more complex morphologies which showed in nature tissue. Some research group have shown cell types, including neurons, have altered metabolism and gene expression patterns in 2D cultures compared to 3D cultures, NSCs cultured on 3D systems showed the more natural morphology and better expanding instead of spreading as in the case of 2D culture [41].

| Feature/function | In 2D | In 3D |
|------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Tissue-specific architecture | Poor | Rich |
| Cell morphology | Flat, extended | Round, contracted |
| Interactions | Limited | Multiple |
| Cell motility | Fast, free | Slow, restricted |
| Cell adhesion | Weak | Strong |
| Cell growth | Directional | In all directions |
| Cell proliferation | High Low | |
| Apoptosis | Induced | Tissue-like |
| Intracellular stiffness | An order-of-magnitude higher in 3D | |
| Cell polarization | Partly | Full |
| extracellular matrix remodeling | Absent or poor | Present |
| Fluid perfusion | 1D | 3D |
| Signaling and diffusion | Asymmetric | Nearly symmetric |
| Metabolic rate | High | Low |
| Cell survival when exposed to cytotoxic agents | Low | High |

Table 1: A comparison of cell/tissue behavior under 2D and 3D culture conditions [42].

3D cell culture system creates a growth environment that mimics the native tissue as close as possible for cell growing in vitro since cells commit to their fate by deriving information from this environment. 3D model can provide not only spatial space and more surfaces for cell attachment, but also uniform cell suspension. Diffusion of nutrients, bioactive factors, and oxygen through 3D materials need to be sufficient for the survival of large numbers of cells in the expanding time [43]. Thus, creating 3D cell culture system to get desirable NSCs for cell therapy is a better solution for cell therapy. Based on the material science and cell biology, an optimal environment for cultured cells can be created and tailored.



Figure 4: Adherent cultures derived from adult SVZ cells [31] .Cells attached to the bottom of the vessel and formed a monolayer of cells 70% confluent



Figure 5: Cell cultured on 2D and 3D Neural cells form monolayer in 2D (A) and neurospheres formed in 3D (B) when the cells from (A) cultured in hydrogel and extend processes in three dimensions. Green indicates cell bodies and red for b-tubulin in axonal extensions [38].

1.2.2 3D Cell Culture Mimic the Niche of NSC

The micro-environment in where stem cells reside are denoted as niche, which is specialized for each type of stem cells and composed by stem cells, supportive cells and ECM. The Niche can either provide extracellular cues to allow stem cell survival and identity, or regulates stem cell behavior, or maintain a balance between quiescence, self-renew and differentiation [44, 45]. The components of the niche can influence the cell behavior, moreover, the interactions between stem cells and theirs niches are also reciprocal since the stem cells can receive the signals from niche, remodel the niche and secrete the ECM components [46].

1.2.2.1 Neural Stem Cell Niche

The neural stem cell niche is a complex and dynamic microenvironment, which includes the brain ECM, highly concentrated blood vessels, microglia, and more differentiated neural cells [47]. Extracellular factors such as growth factors, neurotransmitters, morphogens, chemokines and the ECM are critical components of the niche [48]. Even the exact detail of the cells contacts and micro-environment are still poorly defined, it is proposed that the niche of NSCs is a constantly changing micro-environment played by many factors and cell-cell interactions. The close contact with both endothelial cells (ECs) and astrocytes are important to NSC self-renewal and differentiation [49-51]. Mature neurons also influence the fate of new NSCs through a feedback loop [52]. Soluble extracellular factors (growth factors, nertotrophic factors or cytokines) are constantly synthesized,

secreted, transported, and depleted. Some of them may temporarily bind to components of the ECM to further modify the niche. The interactions of these factors make the dynamic processes of niche that create an environment in which NSCs must constantly sense and respond in real time. Among the multiple factors, the elasticity or compliance of the matrix substrate, and the biochemical composition and dimensionality of the matrix play an essential role to regulate NSCs.

1.2.2.2 ECM in Niche

ECM is a dynamic and complex network of macromolecules with specific physical and biochemical property [53]. It acts as compartment of cells and support the organ development, function and repairing by modulating the production, degradation and remodeling of its components. Various components of the ECM confer well-defined physical, biochemical and biomechanical properties to ECM [54] of niches and they are the key players of niche. Physical properties of ECM can influence anchorage-related biological functions, like cell division, cell differentiation and cell migration [54]. The biochemical properties of the ECM provide the signaling pathways by either direct or indirect manner [55]. Based on the knowledge of the molecular composition of ECM, the 3D cell culture system can be finely tuned for providing the most appropriate artificial niche for NSCs in vitro.

1.2.2.3 ECM Of CNS

The brain ECM, in where the NSCs exist, has its specific components and property. First, the ECM in the brain is quite soft comparing with other tissues. The stiffness of brain ECM is within the range of 0.1-1kPa [56], where-else in muscle is 8–17kPa [57]. The density of the matrix affects the cell's ability to migrate, and the stiffness of the matrix has been shown to impact the differentiation of MSCs (Figure 6) [58, 59]. Second, the composition of ECM molecules in CNS is different from other tissues. Different types of proteoglycans are abundantly expressed in the adult brain and localized to intercellular spaces between neurons and glia. Proteoglycans of the lectican/hyalectan-family and their binding partners, hyaluronan, link proteins and tenascins are the main composition of ECM of CNS [60]. The ECM of CNS shows the predominance of hyaluronan and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (CSPG) [61, 62] instead of otherwise frequent ECM molecules, like fibronectin or collagens [63, 64] in ECM of other tissues. Further,

The ECM is constantly being remodeled by NSC neighbors (e.g. glial cells and Ecs) through matrix synthesis and degradation [65-67].



Figure 6: Matrix substrate influence the differentiation of stem cells

The differentiation of human MSC showed that soft matrices favored differentiation of MSC into neuronal-like cells, moderate elasticity promoted myogenic differentiation, and a rigid matrix stimulated osteogenic differentiation [59, 68]

1.3 3D NSCs Hydrogel Cell Culture Systems

The 3D hydrogel can provide a nature-like microenvironment to regulate cell fate through either cell–cell or cell–matrix interactions due to their tissue-like flexibility, interstitial flow and diffusive transport characteristics similar to native tissues.

1.3.1 Hydrogel Mimics the ECM of CNS

Hydrogels are cross-linked macromolecular networks formed by hydrophilic polymers swollen in water or biological fluids. Hydrogels are non-cytotoxic, it allows high oxygen and nutrient permeability, facile migration of cells and diffusion of biomolecules while maintaining a physical structure [38, 69, 70]. Many kinds of hydrogels can be formed under mild, cytocompatible conditions, with easy modification to possess cell adhesion ligands, desired viscoelasticity, and degradability [71]. The physico-chemical (electrical charge and pore size) [72-74] and mechanical properties (stiffness, tensile strength) [75, 76] can be adjusted by changing the type and ratio of polymers, the concentrations of polymers and the crosslinking density [76]. Adding different types of supporting peptides or trophic factors and adjusting their concentration can make hydrogel more optimal for cell growth. By combing all these technologies, series of hydrogels used for cell culture can be formed from a vast array of natural and synthetic materials, with a broad spectrum of mechanical and chemical properties [77]. Another important attraction of hydrogels being widely utilized as 3D cellular microenvironments is their ECMlike biophysical property [78-80]. Many hydrogel have similar mechanical properties as ECM of CNS. Thus, hydrogels are a highly attractive material for developing artificial ECM of NSCs [59].

1.3.2 Hydrogel Formation

Hydrogels with 3D network structures obtained from synthetic and/or natural polymers, can absorb and retain significant amount of water [81]. It is formed by the hydrophilic groups or domains present in a polymeric network upon the hydration in an aqueous environment. Hydrogel is prepared by dissolving hydrophilic linear polymer in water due to the thermodynamic compatibility of the polymer chains and water. Such soluble branched polymer is called sol. In the presence of crosslinking points or conditions, linking of macromolecular chains together results in increasing the size of the branched polymer with decreasing solubility and infinite polymer in turn formed, which is called gel or network. The transition from the sol to the gel is called gelation [82, 83]. Gelation can occur by physical and/or chemical crosslinking. In 3D cell culture process, seeding the cells is done by mixing the cell suspension with sol followed by the gelation. Every step of this process should be compatible with cell survival and should induce a minimal stress to cells. Therefore, the gels that gelation occurs under mild conditions will the preferable for cell culture.

Chemically cross-linked hydrogels is formed by the linear polymer chains covalently bonded with each other via crosslinking agents. Normally this leads to a permanent hydrogel, that means the polymer is no longer soluble in solvents and heating melt-process can only degrade the polymer. Chemically cross-linked hydrogel result in a network which can't be reshaped or resized, the cross-linker used may be toxic. Physical gels can be strong gels and weak gels depending on the physical bonds between polymer chains. Some physical gels can be reversible when the networks are held together by molecular entanglements, and/or secondary forces including ionic, hydrogen bonding or hydrophobic interactions [83-85]. The hydrogels, whose gelation can be induced by either physical crosslinking such as in the presence of ions and the temperature change, or chemical crosslinking such as irradiated by light, will be chosen to design the cell culture system [86]. Changing temperature leads to the polymer molecules rearranging from random coil to helix, then the helices assemble in clusters and join together by the untwined regions. In presence of ions, the sections of the polymer backbone which carry the charge bind with the ions of opposite charge. Photo-cross-linking involved in the photoinitiator molecules in solution forms radicals when irradiated by UV and cross-link the polymer chains. Among the different gels, physically cross-linked thermo sensitive hydrogels gained considerable attention since it may undergo sol-gel phase transitions at a critical solution temperature and can be reversible with temperature change. The ion sensitive hydrogels are very attractive for the cell culture since most culture media contain certain amount of ions, which can be used as inducer of gelation instead of adding additional ions.

1.3.3 Hydrogel Control NSCs Behaviours

Many different types of hydrogel have been evaluated in cell culture or tissue engineering. The physical and biochemical properties of these hydrogels, affect cell behaviors, such as viability, attachment, proliferation and migration.

1.3.3.1 Cell viability

Cell viability is the first consideration to design a hydrogel model for cell culture. The material needs to support or improve cell viability when cell are embedded in culture substrate. The material to fabricate hydrogel should be biocompatible for the embedded cells, and the concentration of hydrogel need to be suitable for cell survival and growth as hydrogels with certain concentration can be toxic for cells. Different hydrogels including pluronic F127 (PF127), matrigel and puramatrix for human NSCs (hNSCs) have been tested. It was found that PF127, in a 30% gelated form, was toxic to hNSCs and showed less viability of hNSCs than that in 10% hydrogels. Matrigel in a 1–50% form prevented hNSCs' normal capacity for neuronal differentiation. PuraMatrix showed low toxicity when it 0.25% and retained several crucial properties of hNSCs, including migration and neuronal differentiation [87].To improve or enhance cell viability, bioactive factors like NT-3 [88], adhesive peptides like collagen and laminin-derived cell adhesive peptide [89] have been used.

1.3.3.2 Cell attachment

Cell attachment or adhesion is another concern in cell culture for further cell growing and proliferation. Cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) located on the cell surface can bind to the ECM and play the essential role between cells and their surroundings to control NSC development, including their proliferation, differentiation and migration, through extrinsic signals from the stem cell niche [90]. Cell attachment can be influenced by chemistry of hydrogel, such as hydrophobic interface or hydrophilic interface, which can change the ability of protein adsorption [91]. Chemical modifications on non-adhesive hydrogels can improve cell adhesion and modulate cellular responses. The commonly used is conjugation

of short peptide sequences to non-adhesive gels, such as RGD [92] and IKVAV [93] as well as CDPGYIGSR and CQAASIKVAV [94]. The modification can work with both synthetic and nature-derived hydrogel and improve neuronal adhesion [95, 96].

1.3.3.3 Cell proliferation

To get a big amount of NSCs for cell therapy, proliferation must be precisely controlled and promoted. Hydrogel stiffness often affects NSCs proliferation. It has been found that the proliferation of NSCs decreased with the increasing of stiffness of alginate hydrogel [97]. NSCs seeded in different gel favour different stiffness, e.g. NSCs on chitosan substrates that possessed Young's elastic moduli of 3.5 kPa exhibited the maximum proliferation [98]. Degradation of hydrogel further promoted NSCs proliferation because of the efficient nutrient and gas exchange [99]. Hydrogel modified by some peptides also influence cell proliferation [100].

1.3.3.4 Cell Migration

Cell migration is one parameter to assess the NSCs culture. During culture the NSCs can self-renew and proliferate in the gel. Individual cells will aggregate together if the new proliferated cells can't freely move to other place, which will leads to uneven neurosphere formation depending on the cell density and proliferate rate. Uniformed spheres can result in the death of part of cells which are in the middle of big spheres. Free movement of cells allow proliferated cells distributing more evenly in the spatial space in gel, and give cells more space to develop their phonotype . Migration of cells can be influence by the gel stiffness and pore size, growth factor and ligand incorporation [101].

1.3.4 Hydrogel Design Criteria

The design of 3D cell culture system is a crucial step. Developing 3D cell culture requires the control of physical and chemical properties which may vary a lot. The gel mimicking ECM should take account of the considerations of mechanical properties, adhesive ligand, growth factors and transport kinetics as well as to be cytocompatible, reliable, and cost effective ([38, 102]. It needs to allow the exchange of oxygen and nutrients as well as growth factors for supporting cell growth. It should promote neural cell survival and proliferation while maintaining the intended function. In addition, it also needs to be suitable for large scale production and reproducible as well as can be modified for cellular recognition

motif for interaction. The gel degradation products should not have a deleterious effect on encapsulated cells [38]. Thus the designed hydrogels with all these considerations may provide artificial 3D stem cell niches in vitro to enhance NSCs growth.

1.3.4.1 Hydrogel stiffness

The hydrogel can control the cells through the mechanical strength (stiffness) of the substrate. Mechanical strength can regulate cell behaviors (Figure 7) and fate the cell development [59, 103]. Though the mechanism of mechano-transduction events is still not totally clear, but mechanical properties of hydrogels fate the stem cells has been demonstrated [59]. NSCs encapsulated within 3D alginate hydrogels demonstrated that the rate of proliferation of NSCs decreased with increase in the modulus of the hydrogels (Figure 8) [97]. The NSCs showed the greatest expression of the neuronal marker β -tubulin III within the softest hydrogels, which had an elastic modulus comparable to that of brain tissues [97].



The result revealed that the mechanical properties of hydrogel can perform a defining influence on the proliferation of the embedded NSCs. It suggests that hydrogel mimicking the physiological stiffness of ECM may benefit cells to survive. Since the conditions of nature niche is so complicated, physical properties of hydrogel needs to be finely tuned by changing the concentration and ratio of polymers as well as the cross-linker to get the optimal stiffness for desirable proliferation rate and cell fate.

1.3.4.2 Hydrogel Microstructure and Porosity

The porosity and pore architecture of hydrogel is a key role to fabricate functional hydrogel. Embedded cells need oxygen and nutrients supply, meantime the produced waste need to be transferred to the culture media. Thus the proper porosity to allow supporting factors and nutrients as well as metabolites diffusion through hydrogel is important for cell survival and proliferation [105]. For this goal, the pore size needs to be adjusted according to cell density and cell types. For example, the mass transfer rate of nutrients should be higher when the cell density is higher. Gradient also need to be considered since the cells seeded far away from the border of the matrix may have low transfer rate or need long time to get nutrients. This suggests that hydrogel with high surface area to volume ratio may perform better in providing the right conditions to support viable cells. Further, pore size is also very important for cell migration. Proliferated cells from each individual cells will retained together if the pore size is too small for them to move, this will lead to neurosphere forming in cell culture which lead to the uniform cells distribution especially for direct transplantation used hydrogel. Despite of these, the degree of porosity may also have an effect on the mechanical properties, e.g. the stiffness decrease as porosity increases. Different cells favour different optimal pore size. The movement of MSC in 3D synthetic scaffold was observed for an intermediate pore diameter rather than the largest pore diameter [106]. Degradable hydrogel has revealed that the highly porosity significant increase in the expansion rate of NPCs cultured in degrading alginate hydrogels versus NPCs cultured in standard, i.e. non-degrading [99]. In addition, increased porosity can have a beneficial effect on the diffusion of nutrients and oxygen, especially in the absence of a functional vascular system. Pore size can be modified by using many techniques which include solvent casting/particle leaching, freeze-drying, gas foaming, and electro-spinning [107].

1.4 Hydrogels for NSCs Cell Culture Systems

Hydrogels can be classified into synthetic hydrogel or natural hydrogel based on their derivation, or non-degradable and biodegradable hydrogel depending on the possibility of degradation. They also can be divided into physical crosslinking hydrogel or chemical crosslinking hydrogel according to the gelation mechanisms. For intending to CNS repairing or NSCs cell culture, many biomaterials have been investigated (Table 2).

1.4.1 Synthetic Hydrogels

Many different synthetic hydrogels have been tested for CNS repair. Biodegradable hydrogel includes poly(lactic acid) (PLA) [108], poly(lactic-coglycolic acid) (PLGA) [109], poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) [110]. The nonbiodegradable including the poly(2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (pHEMA) [111] and poly(hydroxypropyl methacrylate) (pHPMA) [112]. The advantage of synthetic hydrogel is that they can be easily tailored, possess controllable degradation and microstructure and high mechanical properties. But lack of biological moieties and chemical used in the process of fabrication which can lead to the unexpected reaction with the cells or tissue, needs to be considered for the clinical use.

1.4.2 Natural Derived Hydrogel

Hydrogels derived from natural materials have a similar structure as the ECM of human tissues. Natural hydrogels are made of polymers similar to the biological macromolecules and can perform specific functions in a demanding environment. Many of them can be processed under mild conditions compatible with cell survival [113] and provide a milieu of endogenous signals that promote the cellular interactions, e.g. matrigel [114] and collagen [115] have been widely used in three-dimensional tissue culture and regenerative medicine. Commonly used natural hydrogel also includes hyaluronic acid (HA) [116], chondroitin sulfate [117], fibrin [118], fibronectin [119], alginate [120], agarose [121], chitosan [122] and silk [123]. Gellan gum [124] also got more attention recently. The risk of Natural hydrogels for regenerative medicine may arise from undefined compositions, batch-to-batch variation, and risk of immune rejection for animal-derived materials.

| Material | Source | Inherently cell adhesive | Injectable | Gelation mechanism | Comments |
|--------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|------------|------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Matrigel™ | Mouse tumor cells | Yes | Yes | pH and temperature changes | Primarily used as a cell carrier but unlikely to be approved for human use |
| Collagen | Animals | Yes | Sometimes | Chemical crosslinking, pH and temperature changes | Highly biocompatible and used to mimic the natural ECM |
| Hyaluronic acid | Animals, bacteria | No | Yes | Electrostatic interaction | Often chemically derivatized to form injectable gels and has mostly been used for brain injuries |
| Fibrin | Blood | No | Yes | Enzymatic crosslinking | Extensively tested in vivo and shown to be suitable for cell and biomolecule delivery |

| Table 2: | hvdroael | [125] |
|----------|----------|-------|
| | nyarogor | [] |

| Material | Source | Inherently cell adhesive | Injectable | Gelation mechanism | Comments |
|----------|-------------------------|--------------------------|------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Alginate | Algae | No | Sometimes | Ionic crosslinking | Used as a preformed scaffold for cell transplantation and regeneration studies |
| Agarose | Seaweed | No | No | Temperature change | Mostly used as a preformed scaffold and has shown promise in promoting regeneration |
| Chitosan | Insects and crustaceans | Sometimes | Sometimes | lonic or chemical crosslinking | Material is widely available in nature and has been extensively derivatized to form both crosslinked and injectable gels |
| Dextran | Bacteria | No | Sometimes | Chemical crosslinking | Recently developed into macroporous scaffolds |
| PEG | Synthetic | No | Sometimes | Chemical and photo-crosslinking | Used for controlled studies of scaffold degradation and cell adhesivity |
| PHEMA | Synthetic | No | No | Chemical crosslinking | Supports biomolecule delivery and has highly tunable mechanical properties |
| PHPMA | Synthetic | No | No | Chemical crosslinking | Can be functionalized with peptide domains and has similar mechanical properties to CNS tissue |

Optimal hydrogel can be fabricated by either single polymers or hybrid polymers and combined with different growth factor, tropic factor, chemical molecules, or peptide to enhance cell attachment, growth, proliferation or differentiation. In this paper, we focus on the gellan gum and konjac gum based hydrogels.

1.4.2.1 Gellan Gum (GG)

Gellan gum is composed of tetrasaccharide (1,3-b-D-glucose, 1,4-b-Dglucuronic acid, 1,4-b-D-glucose, 1,4-a-L-rhamnose) repeating units and contain one carboxyl side group [126, 127]. Gellan gum is a linear anionic polysaccharide derived from microbial fermentation product of sphingomonas elodea and two isoforms exist, one acylated form that produces soft hydrogels and another deacylated form that produces hard and brittle gels [128]. The difference of their physical properties of both forms can be seen inTable 3. Gellan gum has been used as food gelling or thickening agent for decades.

| | Low Acyl | High Acyl |
|---------------------|--------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|
| Gel characteristics | firm, non-elastic, brittle gels | soft, elastic, non-brittle gels |
| Molecular weight | 2 - 3x10 ⁵ Daltons | 1 - 2x10 ⁶ Daltons |
| Solubility | Cold or hot water | Hot water |
| Set Temperature | 30º - 50ºC (86º - 122ºF) | 70º - 80ºC (158º - 176ºF) |
| Thermoreversibility | Heat stable | Thermo-reversible |
| Hydration | Sensitive to ions particularly to divalent ions. | Relatively insensitive to ions. |
| temperature | inhibited by soluble solids and low pH | inhibited by soluble solids and low pH |

| Table 3: Difference | of two is | oforms of | gellan | gum |
|---------------------|-----------|-----------|--------|-----|
|---------------------|-----------|-----------|--------|-----|



Figure 9: Structure of isoforms of gellan gum [129]

Hydration of gellan gum can be done by dissolving the powder in water when heated. Hydration of both forms can be influenced by soluble solids and low PH. Hydration of low acyl form is very sensitive to cations whereas not in case of high acyl forms [130].

Both native and deacylated GG are capable of physical gelation. Gelation occurs when temperature change or in the presence of cations. GG in sol are in randomcoil conformation at high temperature and the transition to double-helix occurs upon cooling. Afterwards, the double-helices self-assemble in clusters of antiparallel structures and junction zones are formed. Following this process, untwined regions of polysaccharide chains link the junction zones together in turn form a 3D network to create gel [131], which is thermo-reversible [128]. The gel can be melted at 90-100°C. Gel can be reformed instantly when its setting point has been reached. Sol-gel transition started to occur at approximately 36°C [132] and the setting temperature can vary from 35-50°C influenced by the concentration of gellan gum, type and concentration of cations and the presence of other dissolved solids. Partial aggregation may form an ordered structure on low concentrations, but there is no real gel formation because the number of helical aggregates does not give rise to a continuous network in the whole volume [133]. The stable hydrogel can be obtained by adding cations, which can shield the electrostatic repulsion of the negative charged carboxyl group and thereby help the tight binding and aggregation of helices. Especially the divalent cations can bind together two carboxyl groups producing stronger gel [133-135]. Some experiments also suggested that cations affect gelation differently, K+ was more than Na+,

and Ca2+ more than Mg2+ [130, 132, 133] (see Figure 10). Gel strength increased while the concentration of polymers and cations increase (see Figure 11), except Ca²⁺. At a calcium concentration above 0.1%, gel strengths begin to decline and the gel is no longer thermo-reversible (Figure 10).



GG gel also can be obtained via chemical crosslinking. A novel gellan chemical hydrogel with tunable physicochemical properties has been obtained by crosslinking the polymer chains with L-lysine ethyl ester moieties [136]. Gel formed by adding 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (EDC) and N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) to the hot solution of gellan (T \approx 50 ° C) and in turn the crosslinking occurs between the carboxyl groups of gellan polymer chains and the amine groups of Lys. In this way, the disordered structure of the polymeric chains is maintained by the chemical linkages also when the temperature is lowered to room temperature. Physical gel and chemical gel have difference not only in the mechanism of gelation, but also in the structure (see Figure 12) and storage modulus [136].



Figure 12: GG Schematic representation (a)physical gel of Gellan, (b)chemical gels of Gellan [136]

The physical gelation properties make gellan very attractive as biomaterial. Comparing to other hydrogels, GG showed many advantages for its intended use, e.g. high gel strength and clarity, low use level forming gel, excellent stability, easy production, thermo-reversible gel. Despite of these, the gel texture can be easily modified by adjusting the ions or polymers concentration. Chemical modifications can be done on carboxyl group easily to improve its mechanical properties and stability in vivo [137]. The sol-gel transition required temperature change and presence of cations are compatible with a physiological environment and with cell entrapment. For cell culture systems, most media already contain certain amount of cations, like Na+, K+ or Ca2+. Without any additional cations, many GG solutions can form the gel immediately when it is mixed with cell suspension under room temperature and gel maintained under 37°C during cell culture. GG also show the thermal stability to withstand several autoclaving cycles. Most enzymes had no effect on viscosity or gel strength [138]. Further, shear-thinning property can provide a remarkable suspending possibility [139] and make GG possible to gelate in situ which is very interesting for injectable hydrogel. Degradation of GG can be done by the enzyme galactomannanase [140]. The rate of degradation is influenced by the number of acyl groups, low acyl GG gel degrade more slowly than the high acyl forms [141].

GG has been used as stabilizer and gelation agent in food and personal care as well as in pharmaceutical industry to modify or control the rate of release of active materials of drug. In biotechnology area, GG can be used as growth media for bacteria or medium plant tissue cultivation [142]. Furthermore, GG has been recently proposed as cells supports in tissue engineering. Encapsulated human nasal chondrocytes were cultured in GG based hydrogel, which serve as a cell support in the field of cartilage regeneration [132]. Modified GG hydrogels with tunable physical and mechanical properties support the growth of fibroblast [143]. Gellan gum has been used to develop a novel hybrid tissue engineering-based scaffold for spinal cord injury repair by supporting the in vitro culture of oligodendrocyte like cells [144]. Modified GG (GG-GRGDS) had a profound effect on NSPC morphology and proliferation, distinct from that of NSPCs in GG alone [145].

1.4.2.2 Konjac Glucomannan (KGM)

KGM has high-molecular weight and is a water-soluble, non-ionic and natural polysaccharide [146]. It is a linear random copolymer of glucose and mannose and derived from the tubers of amorphophallus konjac [147, 148]. D-glucose and D-mannose is in a molar ratio of 1.0:1.6 and linked by ß-1->4 glycosidic bonds [149]. It consists of lower acetyl group (approximately 1 acetyl group per 17 residues) at the C-6 position and certain short-chain branches at the c-3 position of the mannose [148, 150, 151]. KGM is regarded as non-digestible polysaccharide due to ß-glycosidic linkages between the glucose and mannose building blocks (ß-1->4 linkages in the main chain and ß-1->3 linkages at the branch points). Therefore, it has been used as weight reducing food. High molecular weight with ranging from 200,000 to 2,000,000 Da, can vary with origin, method of processing, and storage time.



Figure 13: The chemical structure of konjac glucomannan [152]

High water solubility conferred by attached acetyl groups makes KGM as a soluble fiber and the solution is a pseudo-plastic liquid, characterized by shear thinning and high viscosity [148]. Viscosity of konjac solution can be influenced by its concentration but not by pH (pH 2-8) and salt concentration (0-10% w/v NaCl). The konjac solution maintained its viscosity under sterilization process (121°C at 15lb/in²) for 30 min, whereas the viscosity decreased in the same condition with the presence of 2.5% NaCl [153].

KGM particle can swell to about 200 times as its original volume. This swelling is caused by the extremely long thread-like macromolecules which tangle together, when water molecules enter and are absorbed into the chain of KGM. High molecular weight, high density and extreme swelling properties result in the highly viscous solutions. It has been reported that the its viscosity is greater than that of guar gum, one of the most viscous of the dietary fibers [154].

Gelation of KGM occurs by forming a network structure supported by hydrogen bonding. The solution of KGM is never gelatinized with any other agents than alkalis. Gel forms in the presence of mild alkali and enhanced by heating [155]. Heat stable and thermally reversible elastic gel [148] can be formed with addition of a mild alkali such as calcium hydroxide. Since the acetyl groups inhibited the KGM to form gel, mild alkali present in KGM solutions can cleave the acetyl groups and produce deacetylated KGM, which is able to build junction zones through hydrogen bonds [156]. Although the details of gelation mechanisms are not yet fully understood, the research have shown that the rate of gel formation is dependent on concentration and molecular weight of KGM, temperature, degree of acetylation, alkaline concentration and pH [157-159]. Rheometric studies revealed that KGM with different molecular weights exhibited different gelation characteristics. Lower molecular weights showed a decrease in both the storage shear modulus (G') and loss shear modulus (G") during gelation at temperatures above 75 °C, whereas not in that case of native KGM [158]. At a fixed alkaline concentration, increasing concentration of KGM or temperature can accelerate the gelation time, but increasing degree of acetylation delays it. This indicates that the presence of acetyl groups exerts a strong influence on gelation behavior of KGM [160]. Acetylated KGM needs longer time than that of native sample to deacetylate and gelatinize. Acetylated KGM forms finally more elastic gels due to that junction zones are more homogeneously distributed and more numerous, which leads to more elastic gels in slower gelation processes [161]. A pH range necessary for gelation is 9 to 10 [162]. The KGM gel can be solubilized under mild conditions with reagents (urea) which can break the hydrogen bond. This can indicate that the gel dos not consist of any chemical cross-links [150].

KGM gel has the capacity to modify the rheology of aqueous media to which they are added, even at low concentrations, which is important for their stabilizing, thickening and gelling propose [160]. Secondly, due to their biocompatibility, solubility, potential for modification, and innate bioactivity, KGM also involves in many other applications in drug delivery systems such as encapsulation or controlled release of drugs [163] e.g. KGM/xanthan gum mixtures are used as excipients for controlled drug delivery systems [164].

1.4.2.3 Gellan and Konjac Hybrid Gum (GG/KGM)

The interactions of KGM with other hydrocolloids have been carried out. The KGM mixed with xanthan, and k-carrageenan has been studied. Synergistic interaction of KGM with xanthan gum occurs and forms thermo-reversible gels when KGM is mixed with xanthan gum in an optimal ratio of 1:1 in the absence of electrolyte. This ratio changed to 1:2 KGM/xanthan in the presence of 0.04 mol/dm3 NaCl, and the interaction of mixed polymer was described by Williams, P. A., & Phillips [165-167]. Mixed gel using X-ray diffraction and X-ray fibre pattern indicate the evidence of intermolecular binding, but the research of more details of the gelation mechanisms is still ongoing [168]. The interaction between KGM and kcarrageenan was tested [169]. Since both GG and carrageenan belong to helixforming polysaccharide, it has been thought that the synergistic interaction may occur between GG and KGM. It was found that maximum storage modulus appeared at a mixing ratio of GG/KGM=0.6:1.0 (below 15°C with total polysaccharide concentration 1.6%) and GG/KGM =0.3/0.5 (at 0°C with total polysaccharide concentration 0.8%). The result indicated that the synergism of GG and KGM occurred at much lower temperatures than the coil-helix transition temperature, where individual helices in GG molecules sufficiently aggregated. The gel formed by KGM chains attaching the surface of the self-aggregates core of GG helices, rather than individual GG helices [170]. Another investigation was done by rheology and texture analysis on mixture of GG and KGM. The result revealed that mixed sols is a non-newtonian fluid and shear-thinning. The mixture showed the fluid characteristics at KGM/GG ratio bigger than 5:5, the viscosity of mixed sols increased quickly with the increasing ratio of KGM. The storage modulus of mixed gel increased with the increasing concentration of GG, which indicates that GG play a main role in gel stiffness. The gel texture can be influenced by cations. In a certain concentration range, the increase of cations might promote the gel's hardness and cohesiveness, maximum hardness is achieved when the monovalent cations were added at the concentration of 150 mM, while the bivalent cations are at the concentration of 10mM [171].

In my study, we try to make the GG gel more permissive to enhance cells growth. The hypothesis is to get a more permissive by mixing the KGM and GG through the synergistic interaction with low concentration of GG, or by using the long fiber-KGM to make the pore size bigger in the mixed gel.

2 Aim of the Study

The aim of this study is to develop a three-dimensional (3D) cell culture system which can mimic the natural extracellular matrix (ECM) of CNS in vitro to support the growth and fast proliferation of neural stem cells.

As we know that three dimensional of the natural tissue have characteristic biophysical and biomechanical signals for the embedded cells. The biophysical signals in 3D extracellular matrix (ECM) can influence cell functions like migration, adhesion, proliferation and gene expression. The ECM functions as a biological adhesive substrate that maintains the normal cytoarchitecture of different tissues and defines the key spatial relationships among dissimilar cell types. Since the hydrogel has similar properties as ECM of CNS, the hydrogel was used as substrate to create the 3D cell culture system for supporting NSCs proliferation. By designing the self-assembling hydrogel with shear-thining property, by finely adjusting the biochemical and biophysical properties through changing the gel types, ratios and concentrations, by adding different types and adjusting concentration of trophic factors, to get the optimal conditions of 3D hydrogel systems. Under this optimal conditions cell culture will be done to identify and improve the 3D hydrogel model which can support the growth of neural stem cells to get the desirable cell phenotypes or cell number

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Gel Solution

3.1.1 Gellan Gum (GG) Solution

Gellan gum solution is made from Phytagel which is a trademark of Sigma-Aldrich Biotechnology LP and Sigma-Aldrich Co ARO. The solutions with different concentration of GG in w/v (0.5% 0.8% 1.1% 1.4% 1.6%) were made by dissolving the phytagel powder in deionized water with conductivity less than 18.2 M Ω ·cm from Millipore. After autoclaving (121°C, 30 minutes) the gel solutions were cooled down at room temperature for 24 hours and afterwards the physical property were tested and the cell cultures were done by using the gels as 3D substrate.

3.1.2 Hybrid Gel Solution of Gellan Gum and Glucomannan (GG/KGM)

The KGM product used here is from the company Now. Gel solutions were made by mixing the phytagel and KGM powder in different ratio with different concentrations. Series of GG/KGM solution were prepared with GG/KGM of % w/v in 0.6/1.0, 0.8/0.8, 0/1.0, 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0,7, 1.1/0.9, 1.4/0.2, 1.4/ 0.4, 1.4/0.6 and 1.4/0.8. Gel solutions were autoclaved (121°C, 30 minutes) and cooled down at room temperature for 24 hours, the physical property were tested and later cell cultures were done by using the gels as 3D substrate.

3.2 Rheology of Gels

The study of dynamic rheology was done by using a 20mm parallel plate on a Discovery HR-3 Hybrid Rheometer. 1-2 mm gel was prepared and load on the stage of the rheometer. Both oscillation amplitude sweep (OAS) and oscillation frequency sweep (OFS) were employed. The soaking time were set up at 2 minutes. The OAS was set up by holding the temperature at 37 °C and constant frequency (1 Hz) while increasing the stress level from 1 to 10 Pa. The linear viscoelastic region (LVR) profiles determined by the OAS were then applied in OFS sweep. OFS were performed at 50% of their LVR stress levels and temperature (37 °C), the oscillatory frequency was increased from 0.1 to 100 Hz. Storage modulus G' and lost modulus G'' were recorded. Gels without media and gels with 100 ml media which mimic the culture conditions were tested.

3.3 Cell Culture

3.3.1 Neural Stem Cells Culture

Except the 2D control wells, 24 wells plates were coated first by 1.4% GG solution 130µl per well to ensure that the cells grow in 3D model. 2D control wells were coated by 1% martrigel (Millipore). NSCs proliferation medium were prepared by mixing 500ml ReNcell NSC maintenance media (EMD Millipore) with 5ml Gibco Antibiotic-Antimycotic (100X). Basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) from Sigma-Aldrich were added to the final concentration of 20ng/ml (for resuspension, cell seeding and 2D controls) and 30ng/ml (for 3D cell culture on gel). Millipore NSCs of sub passage P7 were detached by StemPro® Accutase from Life Technologies. After cell counting and centrifugation, NSCs were resuspended in medium at the cell density of 2.5*10⁶ cells per ml. Cell seeding was done by mixing 100µl gel solution (GG of 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4%, and hybrid GG/KGM with different composition and concentration GG/KGM by % w/v of 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8) with 100µl cell suspension following mild vortex and 200µl of mixture per well were plated into the pre-coated well. Final concentration of NSCs in 3D gels is 1.25*10⁶ cells per ml and 250K NSCs per well. 2D control was done by seeding 100µl NSCs suspension per well in 100µl media in pre-coated wells. After half hour incubation (37°C and 5% CO₂) the gels with cells were covered by 500µl medium (bFGF and EGF 30ng/ml). The medium were changed each other day and the plates were incubated in incubator with 37°C and 5% CO2 for 6 days. The microscope pictures were taken on day 1 and day 6. The confocal pictures were obtained after 6 days cell culture following cell fixing by 4% formaldehyde and phalloidin stain for actin (green) as well as dapi stain for nucleus (blue). Live dead stain was performed with same method but with cell density of 2.5*10⁶ cells per ml in gels in three different gels. All stain kits are purchased from Life Technologies.

3.3.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Except the 2D control wells, 24 wells plates were first coated by 1.4% GG solution 130µl per well to ensure that the cells grow in 3D model. MSCs proliferation medium were prepared by mixing 500ml MSC medium with 10ml fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 5ml 100X MSC growth supplement serum free (MSCGS-sf), all these products were purchased from ScienCell. Human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) purchased from Sciencell Research Laboratories

were used. Sub-passage of P4 was detached by trypsin/EDTA (ScienCell). After cell counting and centrifugation, MSCs were re-suspended in proliferation medium with the cell density of 2.5*10⁶ cells per ml. Cell seeding were done by mixing 100µl gel solution (GG of 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4%, and hybrid GG/KGM with different composition and concentration GG/KGM by % w/v in 0.6/1.0, 0.8/0.8, 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8 and 1% KGM) with 100µl cell suspension following mild vortex, 200µl mixture of cells and gel were plated into the pre-coated well. Final concentration of MSCs is 1.25*10⁶ cells per ml in the gels and 250K MSCs per well. 2D control was done by adding 100µl (250K cells) cell suspension and 100µl medium per well directly. After half hour incubation (37°C and 5% CO2) all samples were covered by 500µl medium. The medium was changed each other day and the plates were incubated in incubator with 37°C and 5% CO2 for 6 days. The microscope pictures were taken on day 2 and day 6. The confocal pictures were obtained after 6 days cell culture following cell fixing by 4% formaldehyde and phalloidin stain for actin (green) as well as dapi stain for nucleus (blue). All stain kits are purchased from Life Technologies.

3.3.3 Meningeal Fibroblasts

Meningeal Fibroblasts (MFs) was provided by the Wenlab in VCU. The culture medium contained 10% FBS and 1% antibotics were prepared by mixing 500 ml DMEM high glucose (Life Technologies) with FBS (Life Technologies) and Gibco Antibiotic-Antimycotic, to final concentration. Following cell culture, trypsin/EDTA (ScienCell) detachment, cell counting, centrifugation and re-suspension, P4 MFs seeding were done by mixing 100µl gel solution (GG of 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4%, and hybrid GG/KGM by % w/v of 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8, 0.6/1.0.0.8/0.8 and 1% KGM) with 100µl cell suspension following mild vortex, 200µl mixture (cells and gel) per well were plated into the 1.4% GG solution pre-coated well. The final concentration of MFs is 2*10⁶ cells per ml in the gels and 400K MSCs per well. 2D control was done by adding 100µl cell suspension in 100µl medium per well directly. After half hour incubation (37°C and 5% CO2) the all samples were covered by 500 µl medium. The medium were changed each other day, and the plates were incubated in incubator with 37°C and 5% CO2 for 6 days. The microscope pictures were taken on day 1 and day 6. The confocal pictures were obtained after 6 days cell culture following cell fixing by 4% formaldehyde and phalloidin stain for actin (green) as well as dapi stain for nucleus (blue). All stain kits are purchased from Life Technologies.
4 Results

4.1 Rheology

To get the desirable stiffness of the gel for cell culture systems is very crucial step. In this experiment, the hydrogels of pure GG and hybrid GG/KGM of different concentration and composition in presence or absence of media were tested by OAS and OFS scan. Samples with media or PBS were prepared according to the cell culture condition, for example, 100µl sol mixed with 100µl media. Then the gels were plated out on the flat glass plate and kept at room temperature for 24 hours. The stiffness was tested by the rheometer with OAS and OFS swap.



Figure 14: Effect of polymer concentration and medium/solvent on GG modulus Blue line (pure 100 ul GG) Red line (100ul GG mix with 100ul maintaining medium of NSCs) Yellow line (100ul GG mix with 50ul maintaining medium of NSCs and 50ul PBS)

The storage modulus of pure GG gel increases with the increasing concentration of GG polymers (blue). In the presence of media, the storage modulus of each concentration increased comparing to corresponding pure GG in absence of the medium, and storage modulus increased with the increasing concentration of polymers (red). After mixing with PBS, the modulus increased much higher (yellow line). The result indicates that the ions in the media and PBS promote the gelation and increase the stiffness of GG gels.



Figure 15: Storage modulus of GG/KGM hybrid gel with and without media Blue (100µl hybrid GG/KGM) red (100µl GG/KGM sol mix with 100µl maintaining medium of NSCs)

Two series of hybrid hydrogel are made by using constant concentration of GG (1.1% or 1.4%) mixed with various concentrations of KGM. The blue line indicates GG/KGM gel without media, the storage modulus of hybrid gels based on constant 1.4% GG are higher than the storage modulus of those gels based on constant 1.1% GG. In each series, the storage modulus increases with the increasing concentration of KGM. In the red line of GG/KGM with media, the storage modulus changes differently. Except for GG/KGM of 1.1/0.3 gel, all other hybrid gels showed the similar storage modulus in the range of about 80~100Pa.



Figure 16: Storage modulus of 1.1% series GG/KGM hybrid gels In presence of media (blue), storage

modulus of 1.1% GG is higher than that of

any 1.1% GG based hybrid gels by adding

Figure 17: Storage modulus of 1.4% series GG/KGM hybrid gels In presence of media (blue), storage modulus of 1.4 GG is higher than that of any 1.4% GG based hybrid gels by adding KGM

KGM

4.2 Cell Culture

4.2.1 Neural Stem Cells Culture

To check the suitability of 3D hydrogel on NSCs proliferation and migration, NSCs passage P7 (250K cells/well, $1.25*10^6$ cells/ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) were seeded in 24 plates in different gels (GG 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4% and hybrid GG/KGM in % w/v of 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8). A 2D culture on matrigel coated surface was used as control to see the difference between 2D and 3D models. After seeding, the plates were checked by microscope to ensure that the cells distributed uniformly. Afterwards the plates were incubated under 37°C and 5% CO₂ and media were changed each other day. The microscope pictures were taken on day 1 and day 6, the confocal pictures were obtained after 6 days cell culture following phalloidin and Dapi stain or live dead stain after cell fixing by 4% formaldehyde.

4.2.1.1 Microscope Pictures of NSC Culture





Figure 18: Microscope pictures of NSCs culture. NSC P7 with 250K cells/well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel, ratio of gel to media of 1:1, cell concentration in %w/V, magnification 20X.

Day one: Individual NSCs in all samples distributed evenly in gels and in round shape, except for NSCs in 2D control. Cells in the 2D culture attached the surface and the cells showed spreading shape different from those in 3D gel with round shape. Day 6: NSCs in 2D culture showed 100% confluent and formed a monolayer with fast proliferation. Comparing day 6 to day 1, cell proliferation can be observed in all samples. NSCs in 3D hydrogel showed different results. In pure GG gels, small neurospheres formed in 1.1% and 1.4% GG gels (blue arrow) whereas not the cases in 0.8% GG gel. Many big neurospheres formed in 1.1% GG based GG/KGM hybrid gels (constant 1.1%GG and various KGM). In 1.1/0.7 day 6, biggest sphere showed dark color in the middle may indicate cell death. Spheres in 1.1/0.3 on day 6 still showed bright color, this indicate the healthy sphere. No big neurospheres formed in 1.4%GG based GG/KGM hybrid gel (constant 1.4%GG and various KGM), where the NSCs kept individual cell or small spheres.





0.8%



Figure 19: NSCs cultured in 3D GG gel and on 2D matrigel gel surface. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Magnification 10X

NSCs P7 were cultured on 2D (250K cells/well) and in 3D GG hydrogels (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells/ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1). After 6 days culture, in 2D control (D1 D2) the NSCs attached the surface of the matrigel coating and formed a monolayer with 100% confluent. However in 3D hydrogels (A-C), individual single cells distribute uniformly in the gels and kept round shape, very small cluster formed in 1.1% and 1.4% gels, and the most cells appeared in 1.4% gel. Less cells showed up in 0.8% (A2) GG hydrogel than that in 1.1% (B2) and 1.4% (C2) GG gel and there is no big different on proliferation between 1.1% and 1.4% hydrogel(B2 and C2).



Figure 20: NSCs cultured in 3D 1.1% GG based GG/KGM hybrid hydrogels. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Concentration of gel GG/KGM is in % w/v. Magnification 10X

NSCs P7 were cultured 6 days in 3D hydrogels (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1).NSCs in all 1.1% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels formed neurospheres (A-D), and more uniform spheres appeared in 1.1/0.5 (B1,B2)and 1.1/0.7 (C1,C2).



Figure 21: NSCs cultured in 3D 1.4% GG based GG/KGM hybrid hydrogel. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Concentration of gel GG/KGM is in % w/v. Magnification 10X

NSCs P7 were cultured 6 days in 3D hydrogel (250K cells/ well, $1.25*10^6$ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1).No big neurospheres formed in all

1.4% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels and all individual NSCs kept round shape. Less NSCs appeared in 1.4/0.4 (A2) and 1.4/0.6 (B2) and more NSCs showed up in 1.4/0.6(C2) and 1.4/0.8 (D2).



Figure 22: NSCs cultured in different 3D gels and 2D Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Concentration of gel GG/KGM is in % w/v. Magnification 10X

NSCs P7 were cultured 6 days in 3D gels (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells/ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) and 2D. (1) NSCs in 3D showed individual round shape or spheres which are different as in 2D 100% confluent

monolayer. (2) 1.1%GG based hybrid gel showed big spheres whereas not the case in 1.1% pure GG gel alone (3). Except for less cells in 1.4/0.2 gel, there was no big difference of cell morphology and cell numbers in other 1.4%GG based hybrid gel comparing to 1.4% pure GG gel.



Figure 23: Live/dead stain of NSCs in GG gels

Green-fluorescent calcein-AM indicates intracellular esterase activity and red-fluorescent ethidium homodimer-1 indicates loss of plasma membrane integrity. Magnification 10X

NSCs P7 were cultured in 3D GG hydrogel (500K cells/well, 2.5*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1). After 6 days culture, live/dead stain were performed. The most cells appeared in 1.4% GG gel. This result may indicate that 1.4% GG hydrogel is suitable for NSCs growing.

4.2.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSC can develop to the neural lineage cells. To test the 3D hydrogel, MSC subpassage P4 (250K cells/well,.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) were seeded in 24 plates in different gels (GG 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4% and hybrid GG/KGM in %w/v of 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8, 0.6/0.6, 0.8/0.8 0/1.0). 2D culture was done as control to observe the difference between 2D and 3D models. After cell seeding the plates were checked by microscope to ensure that the cells distributed uniformly. Then the plates were incubated under 37°C and 5% CO2 and media were changed each other day. The microscope pictures were taken on day 2 and day 6, the confocal pictures were obtained after 6 days cell culture following phalloidin and dapi stain after cell fixing by 4% formaldehyde. Except for 2D and 1% konjac sample, all gels were moved into a new plate for confocal scan.



4.2.2.1 Microscope Pictures of MSC Culture



Figure 24: Microscope pictures of MSC in 3D gels (GG/KGM and GG) and 2D. Magnifications 20X. Concentration in w/v%

MSC P4 were cultured 6 days in 2D (250K cells/well) and in 3D GG hydrogels (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cell/ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). (1)Day 2: All individual cells appeared uniform distribution in the gels except for the monolayer formation on the 2D. In gels of 0.8, 1.1, 1.4, 1.1/0.7, 0.6/1.0, 0.8/08,1.4/0.8 some cells showed in ellipse-shape or spindle-shape. The most other cells are round. (2)Day 6: Comparing to the day 2, cell proliferation are obviously observed in all samples. In the gels of 0.8 GG and 0.6/1.0 more morphologic variations of cell shape appeared.

4.2.2.2 Confocal Scan of MSC Culture



0.8%



Figure 25: MSCs cultured in 3D GG gel and on 2D. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Magnification 10X

MSC P4 were cultured in 2D (250K cells/well) and in 3D GG hydrogel (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). After 6 days culture, similar amount of cells have been detected in 3D GG gels of different concentrations (A2 B2 and C2). Morphology of MSC cells showed difference in 2D and 3D culture. Cells attached to the surface of plate and spread in 2D as a monolayer. In 3D gels, the most spreading cells appeared in 0.8% GG gel (A1) and some in 1.4% (C1) GG gels. More round cells appeared in 1.1% GG gel (B1).



Figure 26: MSCs cultured in 1.1% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Concentration of gel is in %w/v. Magnification 10X.

MSCs P4 were cultured in 1.1% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). After 6 days culture, MSC proliferate rates are similar in all 1.1% GG based hybrid gels (A2,

B2, C2 and D2). The most spreading cells were found in the gel of 1.1/0.9 GG/KGM (D1) whereas less in other gels.



Figure 27: MSC cultured in 1.4% GG based hybrid GG/KGM gels. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin, blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi, concentration of gel in %w/v, magnification 10X.

MSCs P4 were cultured in 1.4GG based GG/KGM hybrid gels (250K cells/ well,

1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). After 6 days

culture, MSCs proliferate rate is similar in all 1.4% GG based hybrid gels (A2, B2, C2 and D2) and showed similar morphologic variations, some cells slightly spread in 1.4/0.8 gel.



Figure 28: MSC cultured in 3D hybrid GG/KGM gels and 1% KGM. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin, blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi, concentration of gel in %w/v, magnification 10X.

MSCs P4 were cultured on 2D (250K cells/well) and in 3D GG hydrogel (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). After 6 days culture, MSC proliferated better and spread more in GG/KGM of 0.6/1.0 gel (A1 A2) than in 0.8/0.8 GG/KGM gel (B1 B2). No gel formed when cells suspension mixed with the 1% konjac sol neither in room temperature nor under 37°C. Therefore, MSC formed a monolayer in 1% konjac gel (C1 C2) same as in 2D (D1 D2).





Figure 29: MSCs cultured in GG, GG/KGM, 1% konjac and 2D. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin, blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi, concentration of gel in %w/v, magnification 10X.

MSCs P4 were cultured in 2D (250K cells/well) and in 3D hydrogel (250K cells/ well, 1.25*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media in 1:1). After 6 days culture (1) 1% konjac did not form 3D gel by mixing MSC cell suspension and gel sol under neither room temperature nor 37 °C, therefore in 1% konjac MSC formed monolayer same as in 2D. MSCs in both 2D and 1% konjac showed identical cell numbers and morphology which can be revealed by nuclei stain and actin stain.(2) Despite 1% konjac, all others formed 3D gels after mixing the cell suspension and gel solutions. In 3D gels, there is no significant difference on cell proliferation in 1.4GG based and 1.1GG based hybrid gels. More cells appeared in 0.6/1.0 GG/KGM gel. MSC spread the most in 0.8 GG gel and more in 0.6/1.0 GG/KGM. The morphologic difference in spreading cells in 3D and 2D can be obviously observed.

4.2.3 Meningeal Fibroblasts

Meningeal Fibroblasts sub-passage P4 (400K cells/well, $2*10^6$ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) were seeded in 24 plates in different gels (GG 0.8%, 1.1%, 1.4% and GG/KGM in %w/v of 1.1/0.3, 1.1/0.5, 1.1/0.7, 1.1/0.9 1.4/0.2, 1.4/0.4, 1.4/0.6, 1.4/0.8, 0.6/0.6, 0.8/0.8 0/1.0). 2D culture was done as control to observe the difference between 2D and 3D models. After cell seeding the plates were checked by microscope to ensure that the cells distributed uniformly. Afterwards the plates were incubated under 37°C and 5% CO₂ and media were changed each other day. The microscope pictures were taken on day 1 and day 6. Afterwards, the samples were fixed by 4% formaldehyde, stained by phalloidin and dapi, transferred into a new plate (except 2D and 1% konjac sample) and scanned by confocal camera.



4.2.3.1 Microscope Pictures of Meningeal Fibroblasts Culture



Figure 30: Microscope pictures of meningeal fibroblasts culture. MF P4 with 400K cells/well, 2*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel, ratio of gel to media of 1:1, gel concentration in %w/V, magnification: 20X

Day 1: All individual cells appeared uniform distribution in the gels and most cells are round except 30% confluent monolayer on the 2D and 1% konjac. Day 6: Comparing to the day 1, cell proliferation can be obviously observed in all samples. Monolayer formed in 1.0% KGM as that in 2D control with 100% confluent. In GG and GG/KGM gels, there is no big cluster formed but more morphologic variations appeared. No significant difference of cell numbers can be seen among all day 6 samples.



4.2.3.2 Confocal Scan of Meningeal Fibroblasts Culture



MF P4 were cultured on 2D (400K cells/well) and in 3D GG hydrogel (400K cells/ well, $2*10^6$ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1). After 6 days culture MFs attached the surface of the well in 2D (D1 D2) and formed a monolayer with 80% confluent. In 3D GG gels (A-C), most cells appeared in

1.4GG gel (C2) with spreading 3D structure (C1). The less cells in 1.1 GG gel and fewer cells can be detected in 0.8 GG gel, MF kept round shape in 0.8 and 1.1 gel.



Figure 32: Meningeal fibroblasts cultured in 1.1% GG based GG/KGM gels. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Concentration of gel is in %w/v, Magnification 10X

MF P4 was cultured in 3D hybrid gels (400K cells/ well, 2*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1). After 6 days culture, there is no significant

difference on cell proliferation and cell morphology among the samples in all 1.1 GG based GG/KGM gels exclude 1.1GG/0.3KGM, where showed less cells than others.



Figure 33: Meningeal fibroblasts cultured in 1.4% GG based GG/KGM gels. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi, Concentration of gel in %w/v, Magnification 10X

MF P4 was cultured in 3D hybrid gels (400K cells/ well, 2*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1). After 6 days culture, there is no significant difference on cell proliferation and cell morphology among the samples in 1.4% GG based GG/KGM gels. Morphologic variations appeared in all samples, but cells didn`t spread as in 1.4% pure GG gels or 2D.



Figure 34: Meningeal fibroblasts in 3D GG/KGM gels and 1% KGM. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi, concentration of gel in %w/v, Magnification 10X

MF P4 were cultured in 3D hybrid gels (400K cells/ well, 2*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) and in 1% konjac. There is no gelation occurred in 1% konjac after mixing the cells suspension with the gel solution. Thus monolayer formed in 1% konjac. No significant difference was found on cell proliferation and cell morphology between 0.8/0.8 and 0.6/1.0 GG/KGM hybrid gels. MF slightly spread in both gels.

Results



Figure 35: Meningeal fibroblasts in GG, GG/KGM, 1% konjac and 2D. Green indicates actin stained by phalloidin. Blue indicates nuclei stained by dapi. Magnification 10X

MF P4 were cultured in 3D hybrid gels (400K cells/ well, 2*10⁶ cells /ml in 200µl gel and ratio of gel to media of 1:1) and in 1% konjac as well as 2D. (1) In 1% konjac MF formed monolayer but showed difference in cell spreading as in 2D. (2) In GG gels, better proliferation and most cells spreading were found in 1.4% GG gel. Few cells were detected in 0.8 GG gel. (3) In 1.4% GG based hybrid gels, no significant difference of cell number could be observed among the hybrid gels. 1.4GG/0.8KGM showed slightly cell spreading. Comparing to 1.4%GG based hybrid gels, similar cell number with best cell spreading appeared in 1.4 pure GG gel .(4) Comparing to 1.1% GG gel with 1.1% GG based hybrid gels, cell proliferation in 1.1%GG was poorer than in most hybrid gels. No significant difference could be observed between 1.1%GG and 1.1GG/0.3KGM. More cells were found in gels of 1.1%GG with 0.5%, 0.7% and 0.9% KGM, but better cell spreading in GG/KGM of 1.1/0.9. (4) Comparing 0.8/0.8 to 0.6/1.0 hybrid gels, more cell spreading and cell numbers can be seen in 0.6GG/1.0KGM gel. (5) In all 3D gels, MF showed most cells spreading in 1.4%GG gel and higher cell number in 0.6GG/1.0KGM hybrid gel with slightly less cell spreading than 1.4GG gel.



Figure 36: Meningeal fibroblasts on the edge of 1.4% GG gel

The edge of 1.4% GG gel in the original cultured plate was scanned. The MF showed spreading actin (A1) and more cells (B1) in this area. The gel was moved

to a new plate and scanned again. A2 and B2 showed fewer cells in the new plate in same area of gel. This revealed that MF could escape from the edge of gel and form a monolayer on the surface of the well.

5 Discussions

Hydrogel stiffness can influence the embedded cell on many cell activities, like adhesion, proliferation, migration, and differentiation. As we know, the stiffness depends on the type of materials, concentration of polymers, components ratio or concentration in the mixture, type of ions and their concentration, pore size and so on. Therefore, the optimal stiffness needs to be finely tuned by changing all factors which can influence the stiffness. Designing the stiffness of hydrogel need to consider not only the composition and concentration of polymers but also need to consider the used medium in cell culture.

In present work, the different conditions were used. Stiffness of GG was tested from 0.8% to 1.6% with and without media. The gel solution was prepared from 0.3% -1.7%. Above concentration of 0.8% under room temperature, the GG can form gels from soft 0.8% gel to hard 1.7% gel. Higher concentrated gels were excluded because it's stiffness in presence of media exceeding the range of ECM of CNS, e.g. gel of 100ul 1.7% GG mixing with 100ul media has stiffness greater than 1000Pa. In the GG gels, the stiffness of gel between 0.8%-1.6% is in the range of 3-250pa (blue line in Figure 14) and their storage modulus are dominant (Data not shown). With the increasing of the concentration of polymers, the storage modulus (G') is getting greater than the loss modulus (G') (Data not shown). For example G'/ G" of 0.8% GG is 3 and that ratio of 1.6% GG is 8, this indicates that the particles in the gels with higher concentration are strongly associated and more dense network formed. This is in compliance with other research result that stiffness of hydrogel increase with the increasing of the polymers concentration [130]. Below concentration of 0.8% the sol can form very soft gel which is below 100Pa in presence media, e.g. 0.8% GG in presence of media is only 100pa (Figure 14). Therefore, we focused on the gels with the concentration of 0.8%-1.6% since the stiffness in presence of media is between 130-673 Pa similar as the stiffness of ECM in CNS. To mimic the cell culture conditions, the 100µl gel solution with 100µl media (simulate cell suspension) were mixed by vortex to form gel, in which the actual polymer concentration was decreased 50%. The tested stiffness of those gels was in the range of 130-1050 Pa and was higher than the stiffness of pure gel without media. E.g. the stiffness of pure 1.4%GG is 70Pa. After 100µl 1.4% GG mixing with 100µl media, the final

concentration of polymers in this gel is 0.7%. The stiffness of this gel is 250 Pa, which is much higher than the 0.8%GG gel (3Pa) and 1.4% GG (70Pa) without media. This big change of the stiffness after mixing the GG with media resulted from the presence of the ions in the media, such as calcium chloride (CaCl₂), magnesium chloride (MgCl₂), magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄), potassium chloride (KCl), sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃), sodium chloride (NaCl) and sodium phosphate dibasic (Na2HPO4).This result revealed that during the stiffness design of cell culture system, not only the aspects of polymers concentration but also the ions [172, 173] in used medium for cell culture need to be considered, since the ions can significant influence the gel stiffness (Figure 14). To get the suitable gel, the stillness of the gel should be tested with the media or other solvent substance involved in the culture, for example PBS.

In the hybrid gels, the stiffness results reflect more complexity. 1% konjac alone couldn't form the gel under the normal culture conditions. Stiffness of pure GG gel of 1.1% and 1.4% GG in presence of media is higher than any hybrid gels based on this the concentration (blue line in Figure 16 and Figure 17), respectively. This may indicate that adding the KGM to GG can lead to a softer gel with loose structure. This is one of the assumptions of this study to make a hybrid gel of GG/KGM where hopefully the KGM with long fibre can change the microstructure of the GG network to get big pore size in order to increase the permeability. Ions influence on hybrid gels can be seen in Figure 15, the blue line showed the stiffness of hybrid gels without medium. The 1.4% GG based hybrid series in general has higher stiffness than the 1.1% GG based series; this is in a compliance with the mechanisms that the GG is more responsible for the stiffness in the GG/KGM hybrid gel, which is mentioned in the introduction (Gellan Gum). The red line in Figure 15 shows the stiffness of the hybrid gels with media. The 1.1% GG based hybrid gels with medium have higher stiffness than the same series without medium, which occurs with the GG gel. But in the 1.4% based series, some hybrid gels with media have lower stiffness than those gels without media. For example, the stiffness of 1.4/0.8 GG/KGM with media is 108Pa whereas without media is 135Pa. This phenomenon may need further tests to understand more detailed mechanism to be able to design better gels.

To test the stiffness of hydrogel is first step to design a cell culture system. Only the hydrogels with similar stiffness as ECM of CNS may stimulate the adhesion and proliferation of NSCs. Therefore, the 0.8%-1.6% GG gel (100-700Pa) and all hybrids gels (50-150Pa) which are in the range of stiffness (less than 1000pa) of ECM of CNS could be suitable for NSCs culture system. But 1.6% GG gel was not often used in cell culture in present work since the 1.6% GG gels is not easy to get the sol with simply shaking under room temperature, whereas 1.4% GG occurred. As we know that the optimal matrix stiffness varies among different cell types, three different cells (NSCs, MSCs and brain tissue isolated MFs) in this study are used for cell cultures. Both proliferation and morphologic change of the cells were observed.

NSCs appeared different proliferation and phenotype in 3D gels. In GG gels, NSCs show the best proliferation rate in 1.4% GG gel with stiffness about 250Pa instead of softer gel of 0.8% of 130Pa (Figure 14). Live/dead stain also suggested the most live NSCs in 1.4% GG gel (Figure 23). Most cells in this gel are round, only small spheres are formed. This may suggest that the pore size of the gels may not optimal for cell migration or the adhesion of NSCs to GG gels is generally weak. NSCs proliferate better in the 1.1% GG based hybrid gels comparing to 1.1%GG gel. Big neurospheres formation may reveal better cell migration and proliferation in these gels. The further tests of pore size need to be done to get the clue of the optimal diameter of GG or GG/KGM hybrid gels for NSCs. To enhance the cell adhesion in order to improve cell proliferation, GG gels or GG/KGM hybrid gels can be modified with some adhesion peptides or with adhesion-favorable components. For example, hydrogels composed of collagen and laminin-derived cell adhesive peptide can enhance the survival of embedded neural cells [95]. Self-renewal is essential for NSCs to maintain their population in an undifferentiated state, which is critical for cell cultures. CAMs play a critical role during the cell developing process, since CAMs are the bridging molecules between extrinsic signals from neighbor cells or the ECM and intracellular transcriptional regulation. Therefore, to control NSCs self-renew and keep NSCs properties, CAMs can be considered as additional molecule to improve the culture system. L1, for example, a subfamily protein of CAMS, has been reported to play an important role in neuronal survival and migration as well as neurite outgrowth and extension, axonal guidance and synaptic plasticity in vitro and in vivo [174]. Since the neighboring cells form an important component of the static mechanical environment sensed by a given cell, therefore the cell-sense may play a role in 3D culture systems. To test the influence of cell-cell interaction on cell survival and proliferation, different cell seeding density to change the distance of cell-cell can be used in next experiment. Co-culture with other cells which are the nature neighboring cells of NSCs may help to get more hints to culture the NSCs. Due to the special components, to understand ECM of CNS better also can help the design of cell culture. Proteoglycans, which present in the extracellular microenvironment and on the cell surface, can bind diverse extracellular factors, including signaling molecules, membrane proteins, and components of the extracellular matrix. Proteoglycans play a vital role in cell-cell and cell-ECM signaling in the CNS. Tenascin C (TNC) is an extracellular matrix glycoprotein that is highly expressed by NSCs located in the brain and spinal cord during development and in the adult. Glycan binding proteins, divided broadly into lectins or glycosaminoglycan binding proteins, are thought to mediate many of the biologic functions of glycans. Cell adhesion to ECM is a critical step, the major cell surface receptors that mediate this interaction are the integrins. The basal lamina, enriched in laminin and collagen, helps to regulate adhesion of NSCs to the ECM. To understand the interactions between NSCs and niches and to use these substances in cell culture may influence NSC adhesion, migration, cell-cell communication, and cell survival. Peptide modified GG and co-culture with olfactory ensheathing glia cells demonstrated significantly greater survival and proliferation relative to monocultures of NSPCs [145].

MSCs are multipotent self-renewing cells derived from adult bone marrow. They can differentiate to osteoblasts, chondrocytes and adipoicytes and also transdifferentiate to neural lineage [175, 176]. Easy isolation and high expansion potential as well as the ability to differentiate into multiple lineages make them widely used in cell therapy [177]. Marrow stromal cells have showed to form guiding strands in the injured spinal cord and promote recovery in a rat spinal cord-injury model [178]. In clinical trials, the intravenous infusion of autologous MSCs appears to be a feasible and safe therapy that may improve functional recovery in patients with severe cerebral infarcts [179]. As the microenvironments appear important in stem cell lineage specification, MSCs are shown to specify lineage and commit to phenotypes with extreme sensitivity to tissue-level elasticity, see Figure 6 [180]. In GG hydrogels, MSC displayed the best phenotype with spreading actin in 0.8% and 1.4% GG gels. In hybrid hydrogel, higher proliferation rate and better phenotype were detected in a GG/KGM=0.6/1.0 gel (stiffness 60Pa). In all gels, there are no clusters detected. It may indicate that the pore size of these gels is suitable for MSCs migration and stiffness of MSC may prefer 100-200 Pa. For the further study, neuron markers can be used to check the cultured MSC to see if there is any special trend in cell development. To enhance cell survival and proliferation, the modified gel with adhesion molecule or peptide need to be considered.

Meningeal Fibroblasts was isolated directly from the biopsy of adult brain. They have been shown to be present in the acute phase in the CNS injury, as they promptly infiltrate the lesion site and form a glial-fibroblast interface that produces new basal lamina which is important to reforms the glia limitans [181]. In the cell culture result, the best dense network (C1Figure 33) formed by MF is seen in the 1.4% GG gel (stiffness 250Pa). In other GG gels and hybrid gels, MF cells are in more rounded shape or with slightly spreading of phenotype. Better proliferation appeared in hybrid gel of GG/KGM=0.6/1.0 (Figure 35) but less cell spreading compare to 1.4%GG gel. Figure 36 showed that MF can escape from the gel and form a monolayer on the surface of the well. This result may suggest that the MF prefers stiffer substrate since the edge of gel is softer than surface of the plate. It is in compliance with that the cells sense the environment and this will influence their cytoskeleton. Since MF was found in glia scar, it may indicate that glia scar has higher stiffness than ECM in other location of the brain. This can be the cue for the cells which will be used for glia scar treatment. This also gives a hint that stiffness designing needs to consider the location from where cells derived. In further study, MFs can be culture in 1.6%GG gel comparing to softer gels.

The cell proliferation rate was not determined in present work since the confocal scan can only provide estimated cell number. Therefore, it not possible to compare the difference of proliferation rate between 2D and 3D cell culture. This work will be done in future to find a solution to dissolve the gels and to obtain stained cells for cell counting, e.g. when trypon blue could be used to stain. The substrate of cell culture between 2D and 3D in present work are not same, another additional investigation can be done in future is to use each gel conditions coating a 2D control, respectively. This may help to see hints of adhesion possibility of the gels. Nutrient and oxygen supply is important in cell culture; the oxygen generator through nanofibres which can be constructed in cell culture gel may help the cell growth. Adding other growth factors like insulin [182] may promote NSC survival. Endotoxin test also need to be done in future cell culture.

6 Conclusion

3D hydrogel cell culture system is easy to say but difficult to do. Cell culture requires the materials which at least need following properties, biocompatible and/or biodegradable, mild gelation process, optimal stiffness, suitable pore size for both cell and supporting factors, or easy modification for adhesion peptide and factors. To design the hydrogel culture systems, the stiffness is the first concern since it fates the cell viability and adhesion as well as proliferation. The concentration of polymers, the presence or absence of ions (the used medium) and ratio of gel to cell suspension have the big influence on the stiffness. Different cells favour different stiffness due to the mechanosens in natural environment. The results of this study showed that the GG gels and the hybrid GG/KGM gels can support NSCs growth, 1.4% GG and 1.1% GG showed preferable characteristics for NSCs and the live/dead stain supported that 1.4% (stiffness 250Pa) is the best for NSCs viability. In the GG/KGM hybrid gels, the series based on constant 1.1%GG with various KGM revealed that NSCs proliferated well in these hybrid gels and formed neurospheres. The 1.4%GG based hybrid series showed less cells than in the 1.4% GG alone gel. From the cell culture result it can be seen that different cells prefer different composition and concentration. MSC cells showed the best phenotype and proliferation in 0.8% GG gel (stiffness 130Pa), where cells proliferated, migrated and spread evenly and formed a 3D structure. Meningeal fibroblasts culture confided that MF preferred the stiffer gel (1.4%GG with stiffness 250Pa) where MF formed a dense network which was not the case in any other gel. To improve these 3D cell culture systems for NSC adhesion and growth, it requires more investigations on the peptide modified hydrogels, new growth factor, co-culture with natural neighboring cells of NSCs, oxygen and nutrient supply, live/dead stain and cell counting.

List of reference

- 1. Brodal, P., *The Central Nervous System*. Oxford University Press, 2010.
- 2. Purves D, A.G., Fitzpatrick D, *Neuroscience. 2nd edition.* 2001.
- 3. Reekmans, K., et al., *Current challenges for the advancement of neural stem cell biology and transplantation research.* Stem Cell Rev, 2012. **8**(1): p. 262-78.
- 4. Gage, F.H., *Mammalian neural stem cells.* Science, 2000. **287**(5457): p. 1433-8.
- 5. McKay, R., Stem cells in the central nervous system. Science, 1997. 276(5309): p. 66-71.
- 6. Conti, L. and E. Cattaneo, *Neural stem cell systems: physiological players or in vitro entities?* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2010. **11**(3): p. 176-87.
- 7. Gage, F.H., *Neurogenesis in Adult Subventricular Zone.* 2000.
- 8. Palmer, T.D., J. Takahashi, and F.H. Gage, *The adult rat hippocampus contains primordial neural stem cells.* Mol Cell Neurosci, 1997. **8**(6): p. 389-404.
- Lois, C. and A. Alvarez-Buylla, Proliferating subventricular zone cells in the adult mammalian forebrain can differentiate into neurons and glia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. 90(5): p. 2074-7.
- 10. Bjornson, C.R., et al., *Turning brain into blood: a hematopoietic fate adopted by adult neural stem cells in vivo.* Science, 1999. **283**(5401): p. 534-7.
- 11. Parati, E.A., et al., *Neural stem cells: an overview.* J Endocrinol Invest, 2004. **27**(6 Suppl): p. 64-7.
- 12. Weiss, S., et al., *Multipotent CNS stem cells are present in the adult mammalian spinal cord and ventricular neuroaxis.* J Neurosci, 1996. **16**(23): p. 7599-609.
- 13. Freese, A., *Principles of Molecular Neurosurgery.* p. Page 69.
- 14. NIH. *The Life and Death of a Neuron*. 10, 2014; Available from: <u>http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/brain_basics/ninds_neuron.htm</u>.
- 15. Mothe, A.J. and C.H. Tator, *Advances in stem cell therapy for spinal cord injury.* J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(11): p. 3824-34.
- 16. Temple, S. and A. Alvarez-Buylla, *Stem cells in the adult mammalian central nervous system.* Curr Opin Neurobiol, 1999. **9**(1): p. 135-41.
- 17. Feng, N., et al., *Generation of highly purified neural stem cells from human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells by Sox1 activation.* Stem Cells Dev, 2014. **23**(5): p. 515-29.
- Erceg, S., M. Ronaghi, and M. Stojkovic, *Human embryonic stem cell differentiation toward regional specific neural precursors.* Stem Cells, 2009. 27(1): p. 78-87.
- 19. Emborg, M.E., et al., *Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural cells survive and mature in the nonhuman primate brain.* Cell Rep, 2013. **3**(3): p. 646-50.
- 20. Auerbach, J.M., M.V. Eiden, and R.D. McKay, *Transplanted CNS stem cells form functional synapses in vivo.* Eur J Neurosci, 2000. **12**(5): p. 1696-704.
- 21. Bonnamain, V., I. Neveu, and P. Naveilhan, *In vitro analyses of the immunosuppressive properties of neural stem/progenitor cells using anti-CD3/CD28-activated T cells.* Methods Mol Biol, 2011. **677**: p. 233-43.
- 22. Pluchino, S., et al., *Injection of adult neurospheres induces recovery in a chronic model of multiple sclerosis.* Nature, 2003. **422**(6933): p. 688-94.
- Lu, P., et al., Neural stem cells constitutively secrete neurotrophic factors and promote extensive host axonal growth after spinal cord injury. Exp Neurol, 2003. 181(2): p. 115-29.
- 24. McBride, J.L., et al., *Human neural stem cell transplants improve motor function in a rat model of Huntington's disease.* J Comp Neurol, 2004. **475**(2): p. 211-9.
- 25. Richardson, R.M., et al., *Grafts of adult subependymal zone neuronal progenitor cells rescue hemiparkinsonian behavioral decline.* Brain Res, 2005. **1032**(1-2): p. 11-22.

- 26. Ryu, J.K., et al., *Proactive transplantation of human neural stem cells prevents degeneration of striatal neurons in a rat model of Huntington disease.* Neurobiol Dis, 2004. **16**(1): p. 68-77.
- 27. Gupta, N., et al., *Neural stem cell engraftment and myelination in the human brain.* Sci Transl Med, 2012. **4**(155): p. 155ra137.
- 28. Gage, F.H. and S. Temple, *Neural stem cells: generating and regenerating the brain.* Neuron, 2013. **80**(3): p. 588-601.
- 29. Sandeep K. Vishwakarma a, b., Avinash Bardia a, Santosh K. Tiwari a, and b. Syed A.B. Paspala a, Aleem A. Khan, *Current concept in neural regeneration research: NSCs isolation, characterization and transplantation in various neurodegenerative diseases and stroke: A review.* 2014.
- 30. Yiu, G. and Z. He, *Glial inhibition of CNS axon regeneration.* Nat Rev Neurosci, 2006. **7**(8): p. 617-27.
- 31. Louis, S.Á., C.K. Mak, and B.A. Reynolds, *Methods to culture, differentiate, and characterize neural stem cells from the adult and embryonic mouse central nervous system.* Methods Mol Biol, 2013. **946**: p. 479-506.
- 32. Reynolds, B.A. and R.L. Rietze, *Neural stem cells and neurospheres--re-evaluating the relationship.* Nat Methods, 2005. **2**(5): p. 333-6.
- 33. Bez, A., et al., *Neurosphere and neurosphere-forming cells: morphological and ultrastructural characterization.* Brain Research, 2003. **993**(1–2): p. 18-29.
- 34. Ray, J., et al., *Proliferation, differentiation, and long-term culture of primary hippocampal neurons.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. **90**(8): p. 3602-6.
- 35. Koch, P., et al., A rosette-type, self-renewing human ES cell-derived neural stem cell with potential for in vitro instruction and synaptic integration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(9): p. 3225-30.
- 36. Ming, G.L. and H. Song, *Adult neurogenesis in the mammalian central nervous system.* Annu Rev Neurosci, 2005. **28**: p. 223-50.
- 37. Casarosa, S., Y. Bozzi, and L. Conti, *Neural stem cells: ready for therapeutic applications?* Molecular and Cellular Therapies, 2014. **2**(1): p. 31.
- 38. Tibbitt, M.W. and K.S. Anseth, *Hydrogels as extracellular matrix mimics for 3D cell culture.* Biotechnol Bioeng, 2009. **103**(4): p. 655-63.
- 39. Harvey Lodish, A.B., S Lawrence Zipursky, Paul Matsudaira, David Baltimore, and James Darnell., *Molecular Cell Biology, 4th edition*. 2000.
- 40. Zhang, S., F. Gelain, and X. Zhao, *Designer self-assembling peptide nanofiber scaffolds for 3D tissue cell cultures.* Semin Cancer Biol, 2005. **15**(5): p. 413-20.
- 41. Edna Cukierman, et al., *Taking Cell-Matrix Adhesions to the Third Dimension*. 2001: **294**
- 42. Geckil, H., et al., *Engineering hydrogels as extracellular matrix mimics.* Nanomedicine (Lond), 2010. **5**(3): p. 469-84.
- 43. Koutsopoulos, S. and S. Zhang, *Long-term three-dimensional neural tissue cultures in functionalized self-assembling peptide hydrogels, matrigel and collagen I.* Acta Biomater, 2013. **9**(2): p. 5162-9.
- 44. Morrison, S.J. and A.C. Spradling, *Stem cells and niches: mechanisms that promote stem cell maintenance throughout life.* Cell, 2008. **132**(4): p. 598-611.
- 45. Fuchs, E., T. Tumbar, and G. Guasch, *Socializing with the neighbors: stem cells and their niche.* Cell, 2004. **116**(6): p. 769-78.
- 46. Li, L. and T. Xie, *Stem cell niche: structure and function.* Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 2005. **21**: p. 605-31.
- 47. Gattazzo, F., A. Urciuolo, and P. Bonaldo, *Extracellular matrix: a dynamic microenvironment for stem cell niche.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2014. **1840**(8): p. 2506-19.
- 48. Wade, A., A. McKinney, and J.J. Phillips, *Matrix regulators in neural stem cell functions*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2014. **1840**(8): p. 2520-5.
- 49. Song, H., C.F. Stevens, and F.H. Gage, *Astroglia induce neurogenesis from adult neural stem cells.* Nature, 2002. **417**(6884): p. 39-44.
- 50. Shen, Q., et al., *Endothelial cells stimulate self-renewal and expand neurogenesis of neural stem cells.* Science, 2004. **304**(5675): p. 1338-40.

- 51. Wurmser, A.E., T.D. Palmer, and F.H. Gage, *Neuroscience. Cellular interactions in the stem cell niche.* Science, 2004. **304**(5675): p. 1253-5.
- 52. Doetsch, F., *A niche for adult neural stem cells.* Curr Opin Genet Dev, 2003. **13**(5): p. 543-50.
- 53. Ozbek, S., et al., *The evolution of extracellular matrix.* Mol Biol Cell, 2010. **21**(24): p. 4300-5.
- 54. Lu, P., V.M. Weaver, and Z. Werb, *The extracellular matrix: a dynamic niche in cancer progression.* J Cell Biol, 2012. **196**(4): p. 395-406.
- 55. Hynes, R.O., *The extracellular matrix: not just pretty fibrils.* Science, 2009. **326**(5957): p. 1216-9.
- 56. Flanagan, L.A., et al., *Neurite branching on deformable substrates.* Neuroreport, 2002. **13**(18): p. 2411-5.
- 57. Engler, A.J., et al., Myotubes differentiate optimally on substrates with tissue-like stiffness: pathological implications for soft or stiff microenvironments. J Cell Biol, 2004. **166**(6): p. 877-87.
- 58. Even-Ram, S., V. Artym, and K.M. Yamada, *Matrix Control of Stem Cell Fate.* Cell, 2006. **126**(4): p. 645-647.
- 59. Engler, A.J., et al., *Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification.* Cell, 2006. **126**(4): p. 677-89.
- Zimmermann, D.R. and M.T. Dours-Zimmermann, *Extracellular matrix of the central nervous system: from neglect to challenge.* Histochem Cell Biol, 2008.
 130(4): p. 635-53.
- 61. Margolis, R.K., et al., *Distribution and metabolism of glycoproteins and glycosaminoglycans in subcellular fractions of brain.* Biochemistry, 1975. **14**(22): p. 4797-804.
- 62. Toole, B., *Hyaluronate and Hyaluronate-Binding Proteins of Brain*, in *Neurobiology of Glycoconjugates*, R. Margolis and R. Margolis, Editors. 1989, Springer US. p. 411-420.
- 63. Carbonetto, S., *The extracellular matrix of the nervous system.* Trends in Neurosciences, 1984. **7**(10): p. 382-387.
- 64. Rutka, J.T., et al., *The extracellular matrix of the central and peripheral nervous systems: structure and function.* J Neurosurg, 1988. **69**(2): p. 155-70.
- 65. Lane, S.W., D.A. Williams, and F.M. Watt, *Modulating the stem cell niche for tissue regeneration.* Nat Biotech, 2014. **32**(8): p. 795-803.
- 66. Lampe, K.J. and S.C. Heilshorn, *Building stem cell niches from the molecule up through engineered peptide materials.* Neurosci Lett, 2012. **519**(2): p. 138-46.
- 67. Preston, M. and L.S. Sherman, *Neural stem cell niches: roles for the hyaluronan*based extracellular matrix. Front Biosci (Schol Ed), 2011. **3**: p. 1165-79.
- 68. Even-Ram, S., V. Artym, and K.M. Yamada, *Matrix control of stem cell fate.* Cell, 2006. **126**(4): p. 645-7.
- 69. Drury, J.L. and D.J. Mooney, *Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications.* Biomaterials, 2003. **24**(24): p. 4337-51.
- 70. Zhu, J. and R.E. Marchant, *Design properties of hydrogel tissue-engineering scaffolds.* Expert Rev Med Devices, 2011. **8**(5): p. 607-26.
- 71. M P Lutolf1, J.A.H., Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nature Biotechnology 2005.
- 72. Bryant, S.J., et al., *Photo-patterning of porous hydrogels for tissue engineering.* Biomaterials, 2007. **28**(19): p. 2978-86.
- 73. Ford, M.C., et al., A macroporous hydrogel for the coculture of neural progenitor and endothelial cells to form functional vascular networks in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(8): p. 2512-7.
- 74. Schneider, G.B., et al., *The effect of hydrogel charge density on cell attachment.* Biomaterials, 2004. **25**(15): p. 3023-8.
- 75. Anseth, K.S., C.N. Bowman, and L. Brannon-Peppas, *Mechanical properties of hydrogels and their experimental determination.* Biomaterials, 1996. **17**(17): p. 1647-57.

- 76. Wenger, M.P., et al., *Mechanical properties of collagen fibrils*. Biophys J, 2007. **93**(4): p. 1255-63.
- 77. Lee, K.Y. and D.J. Mooney, *Hydrogels for tissue engineering.* Chem Rev, 2001. **101**(7): p. 1869-79.
- Lutolf, M.P. and J.A. Hubbell, Synthetic biomaterials as instructive extracellular microenvironments for morphogenesis in tissue engineering. Nat Biotechnol, 2005. 23(1): p. 47-55.
- 79. Place, E.S., N.D. Evans, and M.M. Stevens, *Complexity in biomaterials for tissue engineering.* Nat Mater, 2009. **8**(6): p. 457-70.
- 80. Cushing, M.C. and K.S. Anseth, *Materials science. Hydrogel cell cultures.* Science, 2007. **316**(5828): p. 1133-4.
- 81. Rosiak, J.M. and F. Yoshii, *Hydrogels and their medical applications.* Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 1999. **151**(1–4): p. 56-64.
- 82. Gulrez, S.K.H. and S. Al-Assaf, *Hydrogels: Methods of Preparation, Characterisation and Applications*. Progress in Molecular and Environmental Bioengineering - From Analysis and Modeling to Technology Applications. 2011.
- 83. M. Rubinstein (Author), R.H.C.A., *Polymer Physics*, 2003.
- 84. Hennink, W.E. and C.F. van Nostrum, *Novel crosslinking methods to design hydrogels*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2002. **54**(1): p. 13-36.
- 85. Alpesh, P. and M. Kibret, *Hydrogel Biomaterials*. Biomedical Engineering -Frontiers and Challenges. 2011.
- 86. Gasperini, L., J.F. Mano, and R.L. Reis, *Natural polymers for the microencapsulation of cells.* J R Soc Interface, 2014. **11**(100): p. 20140817.
- 87. Thonhoff, J.R., et al., *Compatibility of human fetal neural stem cells with hydrogel biomaterials in vitro.* Brain Research, 2008. **1187**(0): p. 42-51.
- 88. Li, X., Z. Yang, and A. Zhang, *The effect of neurotrophin-3/chitosan carriers on the proliferation and differentiation of neural stem cells.* Biomaterials, 2009. **30**(28): p. 4978-4985.
- 89. Hiraoka, M., et al., *Enhanced Survival of Neural Cells Embedded in Hydrogels Composed of Collagen and Laminin-Derived Cell Adhesive Peptide.* Bioconjugate Chemistry, 2009. **20**(5): p. 976-983.
- 90. Shan, B., Cell Adhesion Molecules in Neural Stem Cell and Stem Cell-Based Therapy for Neural Disorders. 2013.
- 91. Smetana Jr, K., *Cell biology of hydrogels.* Biomaterials, 1993. **14**(14): p. 1046-1050.
- 92. Hersel, U., C. Dahmen, and H. Kessler, *RGD modified polymers: biomaterials for stimulated cell adhesion and beyond.* Biomaterials, 2003. **24**(24): p. 4385-4415.
- Cheng, T.Y., et al., Neural stem cells encapsulated in a functionalized selfassembling peptide hydrogel for brain tissue engineering. Biomaterials, 2013.
 34(8): p. 2005-16.
- 94. Yu, T.T. and M.S. Shoichet, *Guided cell adhesion and outgrowth in peptide-modified channels for neural tissue engineering.* Biomaterials, 2005. **26**(13): p. 1507-14.
- 95. Hiraoka, M., et al., *Enhanced survival of neural cells embedded in hydrogels composed of collagen and laminin-derived cell adhesive peptide.* Bioconjug Chem, 2009. **20**(5): p. 976-83.
- 96. Stabenfeldt, S.E., A.J. Garcia, and M.C. LaPlaca, *Thermoreversible lamininfunctionalized hydrogel for neural tissue engineering*. J Biomed Mater Res A, 2006. **77**(4): p. 718-25.
- 97. Banerjee, A., et al., *The influence of hydrogel modulus on the proliferation and differentiation of encapsulated neural stem cells.* Biomaterials, 2009. **30**(27): p. 4695-9.
- 98. Leipzig, N.D. and M.S. Shoichet, *The effect of substrate stiffness on adult neural stem cell behavior.* Biomaterials, 2009. **30**(36): p. 6867-6878.
- Ashton, R.S., et al., Scaffolds based on degradable alginate hydrogels and poly(lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres for stem cell culture. Biomaterials, 2007.
 28(36): p. 5518-25.
- Saha, K., et al., Biomimetic interfacial interpenetrating polymer networks control neural stem cell behavior. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 2007.
 81A(1): p. 240-249.
- 101. Frampton, J.P., et al., *Fabrication and optimization of alginate hydrogel constructs* for use in 3D neural cell culture. Biomed Mater, 2011. **6**(1): p. 015002.
- 102. Griffith, L.G. and G. Naughton, *Tissue engineering--current challenges and expanding opportunities.* Science, 2002. **295**(5557): p. 1009-14.
- 103. Discher, D.E., P. Janmey, and Y.L. Wang, *Tissue cells feel and respond to the stiffness of their substrate.* Science, 2005. **310**(5751): p. 1139-43.
- 104. Wells, R.G., *The role of matrix stiffness in regulating cell behavior.* Hepatology, 2008. **47**(4): p. 1394-400.
- 105. Li, H., A. Wijekoon, and N.D. Leipzig, *3D Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells in Macroporous Photopolymerizable Hydrogel Scaffolds.* PLoS ONE, 2012. **7**(11): p. e48824.
- Peyton, S.R., et al., Marrow-derived stem cell motility in 3D synthetic scaffold is governed by geometry along with adhesivity and stiffness. Biotechnol Bioeng, 2011. 108(5): p. 1181-93.
- 107. Annabi, N., et al., Controlling the porosity and microarchitecture of hydrogels for tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part B Rev, 2010. **16**(4): p. 371-83.
- 108. Wang, H.B., et al., Creation of highly aligned electrospun poly-L-lactic acid fibers for nerve regeneration applications. J Neural Eng, 2009. **6**(1): p. 016001.
- 109. Olson, H.E., et al., *Neural stem cell- and Schwann cell-loaded biodegradable polymer scaffolds support axonal regeneration in the transected spinal cord.* Tissue Eng Part A, 2009. **15**(7): p. 1797-805.
- 110. Bjugstad, K.B., et al., *Biocompatibility of PEG-based hydrogels in primate brain.* Cell Transplant, 2008. **17**(4): p. 409-15.
- 111. Kubinova, S., et al., *The use of superporous Ac-CGGASIKVAVS-OH-modified PHEMA scaffolds to promote cell adhesion and the differentiation of human fetal neural precursors.* Biomaterials, 2010. **31**(23): p. 5966-75.
- 112. Lesny, P., et al., *Polymer hydrogels usable for nervous tissue repair.* J Chem Neuroanat, 2002. **23**(4): p. 243-7.
- 113. Silva, T.H., et al., *Materials of marine origin: a review on polymers and ceramics of biomedical interest.* International Materials Reviews, 2012. **57**(5): p. 276-306.
- 114. Novikova, L.N., et al., *Alginate hydrogel and matrigel as potential cell carriers for neurotransplantation.* J Biomed Mater Res A, 2006. **77**(2): p. 242-52.
- 115. Gillette, B.M., et al., *In situ collagen assembly for integrating microfabricated threedimensional cell-seeded matrices.* Nat Mater, 2008. **7**(8): p. 636-40.
- 116. Sahoo, S., et al., *Hydrolytically degradable hyaluronic acid hydrogels with controlled temporal structures.* Biomacromolecules, 2008. **9**(4): p. 1088-92.
- 117. Li, Q., et al., *Photocrosslinkable polysaccharides based on chondroitin sulfate.* J Biomed Mater Res A, 2004. **68**(1): p. 28-33.
- 118. Eyrich, D., et al., *Long-term stable fibrin gels for cartilage engineering.* Biomaterials, 2007. **28**(1): p. 55-65.
- 119. Fukuda, J., et al., *Micropatterned cell co-cultures using layer-by-layer deposition of extracellular matrix components.* Biomaterials, 2006. **27**(8): p. 1479-86.
- 120. Smidsrod, O. and G. Skjak-Braek, *Alginate as immobilization matrix for cells.* Trends Biotechnol, 1990. **8**(3): p. 71-8.
- 121. Ling, Y., et al., A cell-laden microfluidic hydrogel. Lab Chip, 2007. 7(6): p. 756-62.
- 122. Azab, A.K., et al., Crosslinked chitosan implants as potential degradable devices for brachytherapy: in vitro and in vivo analysis. J Control Release, 2006. **111**(3): p. 281-9.
- 123. Kim, H.J., et al., *Bone tissue engineering with premineralized silk scaffolds.* Bone, 2008. **42**(6): p. 1226-34.

- 124. Perale, G., et al., *Hydrogels in spinal cord injury repair strategies.* ACS Chem Neurosci, 2011. **2**(7): p. 336-45.
- Straley, K.S., C.W. Po Foo, and S.C. Heilshorn, *Biomaterial Design Strategies for* the Treatment of Spinal Cord Injuries. Journal of Neurotrauma, 2010. 27(1): p. 1-19.
- 126. M. Joan Comstock, S.E., Solution Properties of Polysaccharides. July 23, 2009.
- 127. Jansson, P.-E., B. Lindberg, and P.A. Sandford, *Structural studies of gellan gum, an extracellular polysaccharide elaborated by Pseudomonas elodea.* Carbohydrate Research, 1983. **124**(1): p. 135-139.
- 128. Grasdalen, H. and O. Smidsrød, *Gelation of gellan gum.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 1987. **7**(5): p. 371-393.
- 129. Mano, J.F., et al., *Natural origin biodegradable systems in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine: present status and some moving trends.* Vol. 4. 2007. 999-1030.
- 130. Kang, K.S., et al., *Agar-like polysaccharide produced by a pseudomonas species: production and basic properties.* Appl Environ Microbiol, 1982. **43**(5): p. 1086-91.
- 131. Quinn, F.X., et al., *The conformational properties of gellan gum hydrogels.* Polymer Gels and Networks, 1993. **1**(2): p. 93-114.
- 132. Oliveira, J.T., et al., *Gellan gum: a new biomaterial for cartilage tissue engineering applications.* J Biomed Mater Res A, 2010. **93**(3): p. 852-63.
- Miyoshi, E., T. Takaya, and K. Nishinari, *Rheological and thermal studies of gel-sol transition in gellan gum aqueous solutions.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 1996. **30**(2–3): p. 109-119.
- Morris, E.R., D.A. Rees, and G. Robinson, *Cation-specific aggregation of carrageenan helices: Domain model of polymer gel structure.* J Mol Biol, 1980.
 138(2): p. 349-62.
- 135. Ogawa, E., et al., *Effects of molar mass on the coil to helix transition of sodium-type gellan gums in aqueous solutions.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2006. **20**(2–3): p. 378-385.
- 136. Matricardi, P., et al., *Preparation and characterization of novel gellan gum hydrogels suitable for modified drug release.* Molecules, 2009. **14**(9): p. 3376-91.
- 137. Silva-Correia, J., et al., *Gellan gum-based hydrogels for intervertebral disc tissueengineering applications.* J Tissue Eng Regen Med, 2011. **5**(6): p. e97-107.
- 138. PS-60: A New Gel-Forming Polysaccharide.
- 139. Goldberg, I., Williams, Richard, Biotechnology and Food Ingredients. 1991.
- 140. Singh, B.N., L.D. Trombetta, and K.H. Kim, *Biodegradation behavior of gellan gum in simulated colonic media.* Pharm Dev Technol, 2004. **9**(4): p. 399-407.
- 141. Lee, H., et al., *Optimizing gelling parameters of gellan gum for fibrocartilage tissue engineering.* J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater, 2011. **98**(2): p. 238-45.
- 142. T. Omoto, Y.U., I. Asai *Physical Chemistry and Industrial Application of Gellan Gum* Progress in Colloid and Polymer Science, ed. K. Nishinari. 1999: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- 143. Coutinho, D.F., et al., *Modified Gellan Gum hydrogels with tunable physical and mechanical properties.* Biomaterials, 2010. **31**(29): p. 7494-502.
- Silva, N.A., et al., Development and characterization of a novel hybrid tissue engineering-based scaffold for spinal cord injury repair. Tissue Eng Part A, 2010.
 16(1): p. 45-54.
- Silva, N.A., et al., The effects of peptide modified gellan gum and olfactory ensheathing glia cells on neural stem/progenitor cell fate. Biomaterials, 2012.
 33(27): p. 6345-54.
- 146. Chen, L.-G., Z.-L. Liu, and R.-X. Zhuo, *Synthesis and properties of degradable hydrogels of konjac glucomannan grafted acrylic acid for colon-specific drug delivery*. Polymer, 2005. **46**(16): p. 6274-6281.
- 147. Fang, W. and P. Wu, Variations of Konjac glucomannan (KGM) from Amorphophallus konjac and its refined powder in China. Food Hydrocolloids, 2004.
 18(1): p. 167-170.

- 148. Nishinari, K., P.A. Williams, and G.O. Phillips, *Review of the physico-chemical characteristics and properties of konjac mannan.* Food Hydrocolloids, 1992. **6**(2): p. 199-222.
- 149. Bewley & Reid, *Biochemistry of storage carbohydrates in green plants*. 1985. 289-304.
- 150. Davé, V. and S.P. McCarthy, *Review of konjac glucomannan.* Journal of Environmental Polymer Degradation, 1997. **5**(4): p. 237-241.
- 151. Maeda, M., H. Shimahara, and N. Sugiyama, *Detailed examination of the branched structure of konjac glucomannan.* Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, 1980. **44**(2): p. 245-252.
- 152. Xu, Z., et al., Synthesis and characterization of konjac glucomannan-graftpolyacrylamide via gamma-irradiation. Molecules, 2008. **13**(3): p. 490-500.
- 153. Akesowan, A., Viscosity and Gel Formation of a Konjac Flour from Amorphophallus oncophyllus.
- 154. DOI, K., MATSUURA, M., KAWARA, A., UENOYAMA, R., & BABA, S, Effect of glucomannan (konjac fiber) on glucose and lipid metabolism in normal and diabetic subjects. 1982.
- 155. Maekajia, K., *The Mechanism of Gelation of Konjac Mannan.* Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, 1974. **38**(2, 1974).
- 156. Lapasin, R., & Pricl S, *Rheology of Industrial Polysaccharides: Theory and Applications*. 1999: Aspen.
- 157. Nishinari, K. and H. Zhang, *Recent advances in the understanding of heat set gelling polysaccharides.* Trends in Food Science & Technology, 2004. **15**(6): p. 305-312.
- 158. Zhang, H., et al., *Gelation behaviour of konjac glucomannan with different molecular weights.* Biopolymers, 2001. **59**(1): p. 38-50.
- Yoshimura, M. and K. Nishinari, *Dynamic viscoelastic study on the gelation of konjac glucomannan with different molecular weights.* Food Hydrocolloids, 1999.
 13(3): p. 227-233.
- 160. Herranz, B., et al., *Effect of alkalis on konjac glucomannan gels for use as potential gelling agents in restructured seafood products.* Food Hydrocolloids, 2012. **27**(1): p. 145-153.
- 161. Huang, L., et al., *Gelation behavior of native and acetylated konjac glucomannan*. Biomacromolecules, 2002. **3**(6): p. 1296-303.
- 162. Thomas, W.R., *Konjac gum*, *Thickening and Gelling Agents for Food*. 1997: Springer US.
- 163. Korkiatithaweechai, S., et al., *Controlled release of diclofenac from matrix polymer* of chitosan and oxidized konjac glucomannan. Mar Drugs, 2011. **9**(9): p. 1649-63.
- 164. Alvarez-Mancenido, F., et al., *Konjac glucomannan and konjac glucomannan/xanthan gum mixtures as excipients for controlled drug delivery systems. Diffusion of small drugs.* Int J Pharm, 2008. **349**(1-2): p. 11-8.
- 165. Williams, P.A., et al., Synergistic interaction of xanthan gum with glucomannans and galactomannans. Food Hydrocolloids, 1991. **4**(6): p. 489-493.
- Williams, P.A. and G.O. Phillips, Interactions in mixed polysaccharide systems. FOOD SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY-NEW YORK-MARCEL DEKKER-, 1995: p. 463-463.
- 167. Paradossi, G., et al., *Xanthan and glucomannan mixtures: synergistic interactions and gelation.* Biomacromolecules, 2002. **3**(3): p. 498-504.
- 168. Fitzpatrick, P., et al., Control of the properties of xanthan/glucomannan mixed gels by varying xanthan fine structure. Carbohydr Polym, 2013. **92**(2): p. 1018-25.
- 169. Kohyama, K., H. Iida, and K. Nishinari, *A mixed system composed of different* molecular weights konjac glucomannan and kappa carrageenan: large deformation and dynamic viscoelastic study. Food Hydrocolloids, 1993. **7**(3): p. 213-226.
- 170. Miyoshi, E., Synergistic Interaction between Helix-Forming Polysaccharide and Konjac Glucomannan. 2012.

- 171. Mei, T., Xu, X., Li, B., Li, J., Cui, B., Zhou, B. and Ablaye, W., *Synergistic interaction of konjac glucomannan and gellan gum investigated by rheology and texture analysis.* 2012. p. 1363–1370.
- 172. Ohtsuka, A. and T. Watanabe, *The network structure of gellan gum hydrogels* based on the structural parameters by the analysis of the restricted diffusion of water. Carbohydrate Polymers, 1996. **30**(2–3): p. 135-140.
- 173. Singh, B.N. and K.H. Kim, *Effects of divalent cations on drug encapsulation efficiency of deacylated gellan gum.* J Microencapsul, 2005. **22**(7): p. 761-71.
- 174. Hortsch, M., *The L1 family of neural cell adhesion molecules: old proteins performing new tricks.* Neuron, 1996. **17**(4): p. 587-93.
- 175. Jiang, Y., et al., *Pluripotency of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult marrow.* Nature, 2002. **418**(6893): p. 41-9.
- 176. Song, L. and R.S. Tuan, *Transdifferentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow.* Faseb j, 2004. **18**(9): p. 980-2.
- 177. Kumar, S., D. Chanda, and S. Ponnazhagan, *Therapeutic potential of genetically modified mesenchymal stem cells.* Gene Ther, 2008. **15**(10): p. 711-5.
- 178. Hofstetter, C.P., et al., *Marrow stromal cells form guiding strands in the injured spinal cord and promote recovery.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002. **99**(4): p. 2199-204.
- 179. Bang, O.Y., et al., *Autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in stroke patients.* Ann Neurol, 2005. **57**(6): p. 874-82.
- 180. Engler, A.J., et al., *Matrix Elasticity Directs Stem Cell Lineage Specification.* Cell. **126**(4): p. 677-689.
- Abnet, K., J.W. Fawcett, and S.B. Dunnett, *Interactions between meningeal cells and astrocytes in vivo and in vitro.* Brain Res Dev Brain Res, 1991. **59**(2): p. 187-96.
- 182. Apostolatos, A., et al., *Insulin promotes neuronal survival via the alternatively spliced protein kinase Cdeltall isoform.* J Biol Chem, 2012. **287**(12): p. 9299-310.